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I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF REPLY ARGUMENT

As PG&E has said in the past, it regrets the incidents at issue in this proceeding and the 

resulting property damage and inconvenience to the public.  PG&E shares the Commission’s 

objectives in this OII of ensuring regulatory compliance, enhancing safety, and reducing risk 

through improved recordkeeping practices.1 PG&E has been vigorously pursuing these same 

goals.  The evidence PG&E presented in this proceeding demonstrated its unwavering 

commitment to safety, as well as the significant progress the Company has made in 

implementing technology, systems, procedures, and training to continuously improve the quality 

and accessibility of its records and mitigate the risks related to imperfect records.  Because of 

these efforts, PG&E employees—at every level of the business—are working more effectively 

than ever before, finding and fixing problems as they arise, and searching for creative solutions 

to the issues that beset many gas pipeline operators.  PG&E acknowledges, however, that in 

some instances its conduct, viewed in hindsight, did not meet the expectations that PG&E sets 

for itself when it comes to safety, risk mitigation, and coordination with its regulators.  As 

discussed below2—particularly as related to the Carmel and Mountain View incidents, the issue 

of unmapped plastic inserts, and PG&E’s alternative method for setting MAOP on certain of its 

distribution systems—PG&E believes it could have done better.3

As part of its ongoing commitment to continuously improving the safety of the gas 

distribution system, PG&E has undertaken a number of mitigative actions to reduce the risk that 

events such as the Carmel and Mountain View incidents might reoccur, as well as to assess and, 

if needed, address any risks related to plastic inserts and the alternative method for setting 

MAOP.4 PG&E acknowledges that the Commission may determine it is appropriate to order 

1 See generally Order Instituting Investigation and Order to Show Cause, I. 14-11-008 (Nov. 20, 2014) 
(OII).
2 See infra pp. 7-10.
3 As PG&E demonstrated in its Opening Brief and in this submission, it does not agree that any of the 
violations alleged by SED have merit or that any penalty is appropriate.  See PG&E Opening Brief (OB) 
at 41-48.
4 See PG&E OB at 17-30, 48-56, 61-62, App. C.
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further actions to expedite progress in that direction, and PG&E appreciates SED’s engagement 

and thoughtful input regarding potential additional remedial actions.  SED’s experts, P Wood 

Associates (PWA), recommended a number of such additional measures in SED’s Supplemental 

Testimony (the PWA Report), and SED has made several further proposals in its Opening Brief.  

A number of these proposals are appropriate and useful, particularly those suggested in the PWA 

Report, several of which PG&E is already implementing.5 Some of SED’s proposed remedies, 

however, either are not implementable, or would not achieve meaningful reduction of risk in 

comparison with other layers of mitigation to which resources could be dedicated.  In those 

instances, PG&E has proposed alternative remedial measures that it believes are more 

specifically tailored to achieving the objectives intended by SED’s proposals.  PG&E proposes to 

implement measures directed at gas distribution records review, asset data validation, excavation 

damage prevention, and assessing whether any safety risks are associated with PG&E’s 

alternative method for setting MAOP on certain of its distribution systems.6 PG&E is prepared, 

if the Commission so orders, to invest approximately $30 million to implement the identified 

remedial measures.  And, in all events, PG&E is committed to working with SED to achieve 

trackable and measurable progress toward their mutual goal of enhanced safety.

PG&E submits that the maximum appropriate penalty in this proceeding is approximately 

$33.636 million, which is commensurate with the total amount of penalties that SED has 

proposed for the four areas identified above—the Carmel and Mountain View incidents, 

unmapped plastic inserts, and PG&E’s alternative method for setting MAOP.  SED’s 

recommended penalties for alleged violations associated with those four areas consist of the 

following:

5 See PG&E OB at 30.
6 The specific measures PG&E proposes to implement are described in Appendix C.
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$9.88 million for an alleged violation of 49 C.F.R. §192.605(a) in connection with the 

Carmel incident, after taking into account the $10.85 million penalty PG&E has 

already paid in connection with the Carmel citation;7

$5.863 million for alleged violations related to the Mountain View incident;

$10.85 million for alleged violations associated with unmapped plastic inserts; and 

$7.12 million for alleged violations arising out of PG&E’s alternative method for 

setting MAOP.

Although PG&E does not agree that any penalty is appropriate, it respectfully submits 

that any penalty that may be imposed on PG&E in this proceeding should not exceed this 

$33.636 million total.8 PG&E further submits that, to the extent the Commission imposes any 

penalty in this proceeding, it should be invested in the safety of the gas distribution system rather 

than paid to California’s General Fund.  This could be accomplished by earmarking 

approximately $30 million of any fine imposed for implementation of the remedial measures 

discussed above.  All customers in PG&E’s service territory would benefit from these ordered 

investments in a safer gas distribution pipeline system paid for by PG&E.

SED proposes total fines of $111.926 million.9 This amount is unreasonable on many 

grounds, including the fact that SED has not proven the violations on which the fines purport to 

be based.10 Moreover, SED’s recommended penalty is excessive when analyzed in light of the 

traditional factors used by the Commission to establish fines.  Even though there is no regulatory 

7 Resolution ALJ-323, Resolves the Appeal of Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. from Citation ALJ-274 2014-11-
001 Issued by the Safety & Enforcement Div., 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 757, at *1-2, 6-7.
8 See infra pp. 7-10.
9 While Carmel proposes a penalty of $651.77 million, it offers very little in the way of evidentiary 
support for its proposal.  Carmel Opening Brief (OB) at 2, 17-19.  It also states that it supports SED’s 
calculation of the fines for all six gas incidents identified in the OII and defers to SED and the 
Commission to arrive at the proper number.  SED OB at 17; see discussion infra pp. 28-30.
10 See PG&E OB at 41-48; infra pp. 30-49; Appendix A.
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requirement that an operator’s records be perfect11—and PWA admits that no operator in fact has 

perfect records12—SED seeks tens of millions of dollars in fines based only on isolated instances 

of inaccuracies in maps and records.13

SED’s penalty recommendation also does not take into account the evidentiary record 

showing PG&E’s commitment to improving the quality of its records management practices and 

implementing industry leading safety measures.14 PG&E has implemented numerous proactive 

mitigative programs to improve records quality and enhance safety and has made a serious and 

sustained commitment to becoming an industry leader across multiple procedural and operational 

dimensions that touch on everything from its records and information management systems to 

the training and tools provided to its field workers.  Indeed, the many new technologies, 

procedures, and other corrective actions that PG&E has adopted in the last several years are 

already accomplishing the goals that many of SED’s proposed remedial measures are intended to 

achieve.  

There is ample evidence corroborating PG&E’s progress toward realizing its ambitious 

vision of becoming the nation’s safest gas utility.  Certifications by Lloyd’s Register, a leading 

international provider of independent assessment services, confirm PG&E’s achievements in 

11 See PG&E OB at 36-38; 1/20/16 Tr. at 339:15-17 (PG&E/Paskett) (“[S]tate and federal regulators . . . 
acknowledge that no operator has perfect maps and records . . . .”); Ex. 1 at 2:9-11 (PWA Report) (“The 
US Department of Transportation Distribution Integrity Management Program (DIMP) regulation 
recognizes the existence of accuracy and completeness issues in distribution pipeline maps and records.”); 
Ex. 2 at 61 (PWA Rebuttal) (“PWA agrees that the Standard of Care for the accuracy and completeness of 
distribution pipeline records is not explicitly defined in state or federal pipeline safety regulations.  
However, we have used the pipeline safety regulations to infer a Standard of Care.”).
12 1/19/16 Tr. at 44:9-10 (SED/PWA) (“[PWA does not] know a pipeline operator who has perfect maps 
and records.”); 1/20/16 Tr. at 339:15-17 (PG&E/Paskett) (“[S]tate and federal regulators . . . acknowledge 
that no operator has perfect maps and records . . . .”); Ex. 16 at 5 (SED’s Consolidated Response to Dec. 
22, 2015 Meet and Confer Demands & Dec. 1, 2015 Data Requests) (“PWA consultants are not aware of 
utility companies whose maps and records contain no inaccuracies.”).
13 PG&E’s comprehensive responses to SED’s penalty recommendations, category by category and 
incident by incident, are provided in Appendices A and B.
14 See PG&E OB at 17-30.



5

complying with industry standards for asset management.15 SED’s own experts, PWA, noted 17 

instances of innovative or best practices instituted by PG&E in areas ranging from adoption of 

new technologies and data integration, to validating asset information, to performance 

measurement, to improved controls and quality assurance.16 When PWA’s experts learned that 

PG&E had been certified as compliant with the American Petroleum Institute’s (API) 

Recommended Practice 1173, which creates a pipeline safety management systems framework 

that includes dedicated focus on recordkeeping and safety culture, PWA’s experts acknowledged 

that, as far as they are aware, PG&E is the only gas pipeline operator to have achieved that 

recognition.17

In recommending the $111.926 million penalty, SED also does not consider the evidence 

going to the core question of whether imperfections in PG&E’s records raise systemwide safety 

issues.  PG&E’s own excavation damage record, as well as the comparative excavation damage 

metrics collected and reported by PHMSA, are proof that the many procedural and operational 

safety measures PG&E has instituted are working.18 These metrics, with which SED’s experts 

had no disagreement,19 show that PG&E ranks number 13 among the state-by-state averages for 

operators in the fifty states in terms of its excavation damage performance.20 PG&E locates and 

marks the hundreds of thousands of USA tickets submitted annually with 99.98% accuracy,21

15 Lloyd’s Register reviewed PG&E’s safety practices, information and risk management policies, 
employee qualifications, emergency response protocols, and more than 20 additional critical areas of asset 
management.  PG&E OB at 28-29; Ex. 4 at 1-21:32 to 1-22:19 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe); id. at 2-
8:12-25 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
16 Ex. 1 at 59-67 tbl.9 (PWA Report).
17 1/19/16 Tr. at 37:3-6 (SED/PWA).
18 Ex. 4 at 8-5, 8-23 tbl.6 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Paskett); Ex. 10 at 8-22, 8-22 tbl.5 (PG&E Errata to 
Reply Testimony, Paskett).
19 1/19/16 Tr. at 51:22 to 54:15 (SED/PWA) (noting PWA has not analyzed publicly available PHMSA 
data set forth in Mr. Paskett’s report, but PWA has no reason to doubt data or conclusions presented by 
Mr. Paskett).
20 Ex. 4 at 8-5, 8-23 tbl.6 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Paskett); Ex. 10 at 8-22, 8-22 tbl.5 (PG&E Errata to 
Reply Testimony, Paskett).
21 1/20/16 Tr. at 329:2-10 (PG&E/Higgins); Ex. 4 at 3-40:21-23 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins).
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while the number of PG&E’s at-fault dig-ins compared to the volume of jobs is small,22 and the 

number of at-fault dig-ins related to imperfect records is even smaller.23 These facts provide 

important context for the isolated examples of records and operational imperfections on which 

SED chooses to focus—imperfections that, while never acceptable, are also not indicative of the 

systemwide failings for which SED cites them.

PG&E respectfully requests that, in determining the appropriate amount of any penalty it 

may impose, the Commission take into account the progress PG&E has made so far.  Doing so 

would achieve the Commission’s interest in deterring regulatory violations, while at the same 

time helping to promote PG&E’s “find it and fix it” culture and motivating PG&E’s employees 

to continue their drive to improve the safety of PG&E’s gas system.

*  *  *

PG&E’s Reply Brief is organized as follows:

Penalties: The first two sections of the brief explain PG&E’s reasoning for proposing 

that the maximum penalty imposed in this proceeding, if any, should not exceed $33.636 million, 

and the legal and factual reasons why the $111.926 million penalty recommended by SED, as 

well as Carmel’s proposed penalty, are excessive.

New Alleged Violations: This section of the Reply Brief addresses the fact that SED 

alleges a number of new violations in its Opening Brief that were not identified in the OII or in 

the PWA Report.  For example, in one case, the PWA Report expressly disclaimed the same 

violation that SED asserted for the first time in its Opening Brief.24 Because PG&E had no 

notice of these alleged violations at the time it submitted its Reply Testimony, it was precluded 

22 Id.
23 1/21/16 Tr. at 397:4-8 (PG&E/Thierry).  The great majority of dig-ins on PG&E’s system are caused 
by third-party excavators, Ex. 4 at 1-17 tbl.1-2 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe), a fact that can be 
attributed to California’s lack of an effective state damage prevention scheme or effective enforcement.  
Ex. 2 at 50 tbl.2 (PWA Rebuttal); Ex. 13, Attachment E019 at E019.016, .038-.039 (Pipeline & 
Hazardous Materials Safety Admin., et al., Integrity Management for Gas Distribution Report of Phase 1 
Investigations (Dec. 2005) (PHMSA Phase 1 Report)); see also 1/19/16 Tr. at 53:7-25 (SED/PWA).
24 See infra pp. 40-43.
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from introducing evidence to address them, except what facts its witnesses were able to include 

in their responses to cross-examination questions.  PG&E submits that fairness and due process 

require that the alleged violations that are considered and decided by the Commission be limited 

to those to which PG&E has an opportunity to respond—i.e., those identified in the OII and/or in 

the initial PWA Report.25

Remedies: The next section of the Reply Brief provides an overview of the remedy 

proposals made by SED, Carmel, and TURN and addresses some of the broader issues that these 

recommendations implicate.  It also discusses the estimated costs associated with implementing 

the remedies PG&E supports in this proceeding, as well as PG&E’s proposal that such costs, if 

ordered, would be borne by PG&E’s shareholders.  

Rule 1 Allegations: The final section of the brief responds to Carmel’s assertion that 

PG&E and its counsel violated Rule 1.1 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure by 

introducing certain testimony at the hearing.  Carmel’s accusation is entirely unsupported and 

based on its misconstruction of both the record and the law.

Appendices: The following appendices are provided at the end of this brief:

Appendices
Appendix A: PG&E’s Position on SED’s Penalty Calculations

Appendix B: Incidents and Alleged Violations 

Appendix C: PG&E’s Responses to Proposed Remedial Measures

II. THE PENALTY IMPOSED IN THIS PROCEEDING, IF ANY, SHOULD NOT 
EXCEED $33.636 MILLION.

PG&E acknowledges that in some instances, when viewed in hindsight, it did not meet its 

own expectations when it comes to safety.  Accordingly, PG&E believes that the penalties 

25 PG&E provides a comprehensive analysis of each proposed incident and violation at issue in this 
proceeding in table form at Appendix B.
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imposed by the CPUC, if any, should not exceed $33.636 million, which reflects SED’s 

proposed penalties for the alleged violations identified in this section.26

Based on the discussion in its Opening Brief, SED appears to have formulated its 

recommended $111.926 million penalty without adequate consideration of PG&E’s measurable 

and significant strides in improving the quality of its records management practices and 

implementing industry leading safety measures.27 Indeed, PG&E’s sustained commitment to 

continuous improvement—acknowledged by SED’s own experts and covered in detail in this 

proceeding—cannot be reconciled with SED’s assertion that PG&E has a “lack of remorse,” 

which implies that PG&E has manifested indifference for the recordkeeping and other issues that 

contributed to these incidents.  The record amply demonstrates that the opposite is true, in that 

PG&E has incorporated a strong safety imperative at all levels of its gas operations business.  

PG&E respectfully requests that, in arriving at any appropriate penalty amount, the Commission 

takes into account PG&E’s considerable efforts to reduce risk.

A. The Components of PG&E’s Proposed $33.636 Million Maximum Penalty.

1. A Maximum Additional Fine of $9.88 Million for the Carmel Incident, 
After Taking Into Account the $10.85 Million Penalty PG&E Has 
Already Paid

SED proposes a fine of $20.73 million for violating section 192.605(a) in connection 

with the Carmel explosion.28 PG&E has already paid $10.85 million in penalties for violations

associated with the Carmel incident.29 Any additional penalty imposed in this OII for the same 

incident should take the previous fine into account and be adjusted accordingly.  Thus, the CPUC 

should consider, at most, an additional $9.88 million fine associated with the Carmel incident.30

26 PG&E does so without waiving any of its legal or factual arguments asserted throughout this 
proceeding or conceding that any of the violations alleged by SED have merit.
27 See PG&E OB at 17-30.
28 SED OB at 77-78.
29 Resolution ALJ-323, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 757, at *6-7; see also PG&E OB at 53.
30 See PG&E OB at 53-56; infra Appendix A.  PG&E proposes this maximum additional fine calculation 
without waiving its arguments that SED has not met its burden of proving that PG&E violated section 
192.605(a) and has not properly calculated the penalty.
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2. A Maximum $5.836 Million Penalty for the Mountain View Incident

PG&E has previously told SED that it does not contest the Mountain View incident; it 

therefore submits that any penalty associated with this incident should not exceed SED’s 

proposal of $5.836 million.31 For the reasons explained in PG&E’s Opening Brief and herein,32

PG&E does not waive its arguments that SED has not proven a violation of sections 192.605(a)

or 192.605(b)(3).

3. A Maximum $10.8 Million Fine Associated with Unmapped Plastic 
Inserts

SED argues that PG&E should be penalized for failing to adequately address the issue of 

unmapped plastic inserts before the Carmel incident, after having been placed on notice of the 

issue following the Mountain View incident.33 With the benefit of hindsight, PG&E agrees it 

could have started work earlier to develop measures to mitigate the risks of unmapped plastic 

inserts.34 However, PG&E has since taken extensive actions to address this issue, which PG&E 

believes argue in favor of a lesser penalty than the $10.8 million fine proposed by SED.

4. A Maximum $7.12 Million Penalty Associated with PG&E’s 
Alternative Method for Setting MAOP

SED recommends that PG&E should be ordered to pay $7.12 million in penalties for its 

use of an alternative method for setting MAOP for approximately 243 distribution systems.35

SED is also critical of PG&E’s failure to retain written records of pressure levels from 1965 to 

1970 for these systems.  PG&E is on record as stating that its alternative method for setting 

MAOP is safe and consistent with the regulatory guidance issued by PHMSA, and that SED in 

2013 gave its written approval for this method.36 SED does not dispute these points,37 and also 

31 SED OB at 77, 85.
32 See infra pp. 40-43 (explaining that SED did not previously allege failure to have procedures).
33 SED OB at 80-81.
34 PG&E OB at 50-51; 1/20/16 Tr. at 317:19 to 318:8 (PG&E/Higgins); Ex. 4 at 3-26:18-25 (PG&E 
Reply Testimony, Higgins).
35 SED OB at 86.
36 Id. at 67-71.
37 Id. 
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has not recommended that PG&E adopt a new policy for setting MAOP among its proposed 

remedial measures.38 That said, while not admitting to the alleged violations,39 PG&E 

recognizes that it could have communicated more effectively with SED regarding its alternative 

method for setting MAOP.  For that reason, PG&E submits that any fine associated with this 

issue should not exceed SED’s proposed $7.12 million.

B. Any Fine Imposed Should Be Invested in the Safety of the System for the 
Benefit of PG&E’s Customers.

SED has not taken a position on where any penalty funds should be directed.40 PG&E 

respectfully requests that any penalty the Commission may order should be invested in the safety 

of the gas distribution system for the benefit of PG&E’s customers rather than paid to the state 

General Fund.  There is little reason to think that a fine payable to the General Fund would 

improve gas distribution pipeline safety.  Nor does California Public Utilities Code section 2107

contain a requirement that a penalty imposed pursuant to that provision must be paid to the 

General Fund.  All customers in PG&E’s service territory would benefit from any ordered 

investments in a safer gas distribution pipeline system paid for by PG&E.

PG&E proposes the following approach, if a penalty is imposed.  Of the maximum 

$33.636 million fine, up to $30 million should be earmarked for implementation of the remedial 

measures that PG&E has indicated below it believes will meaningfully improve safety, to the 

extent such measures are ordered by the Commission.41 For the remaining $3.636 million, the 

38 Id. at 95-96.
39 PG&E also notes that SED continues to base its MAOP argument on a mis-quoting of section 303.1 in 
General Order 112, despite the fact that PG&E’s counsel pointed out this mistake in the PWA Report and 
Rebuttal at the hearing, and the PWA witnesses acknowledged their error.  Id. at 69.  SED has replaced 
“maximum actual operating pressure,” the term that appears in section 303.1, with “maximum allowable
operating pressure,” the issue in this proceeding.  Id. at 69 (emphasis added); Ex. 15, Attachment E010 at 
E010.058 (Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, General Order No. 112 (July 1, 1961)). “Maximum actual operating 
pressure” is a distinct concept which is separately defined in General Order 112.  Id. at E010.007 
(emphasis added).  PWA included the identical misquotation in both its initial report and rebuttal 
testimony.  Ex. 1 at 28 tbl.3, 114-115 attch. C (PWA Report); Ex. 2 at 30 tbl.2 (PWA Rebuttal).  PG&E 
pointed this out during the hearing, and PWA admitted they had misquoted the regulation and that it 
actually has nothing to do with setting MAOP.  1/19/16 Tr. at 67:16 to 70:27 (SED/PWA).
40 SED OB at 96.
41 See infra pp. 53-55.
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Commission may order a one-time distribution revenue requirement disallowance.  Although 

PG&E is already motivated to do everything reasonably possible to operate a safe gas 

distribution system, directing any penalty toward improving gas pipeline safety would further the 

Commission’s and PG&E’s shared goal of enhancing the safety and reliability of PG&E’s 

system, while serving a deterrence objective.

III. SED’S AND CARMEL’S RECOMMENDED PENALTIES ARE EXCESSIVE.

A. SED’s Proposed Penalty Cannot Be Justified in Light of the Traditional 
Factors Used by the Commission to Set Fines.

The Commission looks to Public Utilities Code section 2104.5 and D. 98-12-075 for the 

factors in determining an appropriate penalty.42 Stated generally, these factors are: (1) the 

severity of the offense; (2) the good faith of the utility, including the conduct of the utility 

before, during and after the offense to prevent, detect, disclose and rectify a violation; (3) the 

size of the business (including its financial resources); (4) the totality of circumstances in 

furtherance of the public interest; and (5) the role of precedent.43 As PG&E demonstrated in its 

Opening Brief and in this submission, SED has not proven the violations.44 Setting that issue 

aside, the discussion below explores the implications of those factors for SED’s proposed 

penalty.  Appendices A and B respond in detail to SED’s proposed penalties on an incident-by-

incident basis.

1. The Severity of the Offense

In addressing the severity of the offense, the Commission evaluates physical harm, 

economic harm, harm to the regulatory process, and the number of violations.45 When viewed 

through this lens, the recommended $111.926 million fine is not commensurate with the 

42 Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 2104.5; Regarding Standards of Conduct Governing Relationships between 
Energy Utils. & Their Affiliates, D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *9-10.
43 Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 2104.5; D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *70-77.
44 See PG&E OB at 41-48.
45 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *71-73.
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incidents at issue in this proceeding.  Even if the Commission finds that PG&E has committed 

violations, this factor militates against the fine recommended by SED.

Physical Harm: The Commission has said that “[v]iolations which cause actual physical 

harm to people or property are generally considered the most severe, with violations that threaten 

such harm closely following.”46 SED contends, with no evidentiary support, that this case is 

“rife with violations threatening physical harm.”47 While dig-ins certainly have the potential to 

cause physical harm, it is clear that the gas distribution business is not one in which risk can be 

eliminated completely.  An important question the regulator should examine is what the operator 

is doing to reduce those risks.  As detailed in the evidentiary record, PG&E’s excavation damage 

record compares favorably to other operators in the state and nation,48 and it has introduced an 

array of programs and incentives designed to further decrease dig-ins on its gas distribution 

system.49 Despite PG&E’s best efforts, emergency and non-emergency gas leaks will occur.50

To contextualize the number of gas leaks on PG&E’s distribution system compared to the risk of 

serious incidents, consider the following: Using its Picarro Surveyor technology and Super Crew, 

PG&E repaired 2,200 leaks in just 17 business days,51 and PG&E experiences approximately 156 

accidental dig-ins per month, or between 1,800 and 1,900 dig-ins, on average, annually.52

Nationwide, there have been at least 63,000 reported leaks due to excavation damage every year 

between 2010 and 2014.53 But during the same time period, there were only an average of six 

46 Resolution ALJ-277, Affirming Citation No. ALJ-274 2012-01-001 Issued to Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. for 
Violations of Gen. Order 112-E, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 629, at *16.
47 SED relies for that assertion exclusively on testimony by the Mayor of Carmel, whose testimony, in 
turn, is also unsupported.  SED OB at 72.
48 Ex. 4 at 8-5, 8-23 tbl.6 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Paskett); Ex. 10 at 8-22, 8-22 tbl.5 (PG&E Errata to 
Reply Testimony, Paskett).
49 Ex. 4 at 3-5:17 to 3-17:22, 3-20:5 to 3-23:20 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins). 
50 As Raymond Thierry testified, dig-ins that result in an unplanned release of gas are classified as gas 
leaks.  Ex. 4 at 6-8:1-5 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Thierry).
51 Id. at 3-6:19-26 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins). 
52 Id. at 7-14 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Huriaux).
53 Id. at 8-18 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Paskett).  
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reported “serious incidents” per year due to excavation damage on gas distribution systems,54 or 

approximately 9/1,000 of 1% of the number of reported leaks—a very tiny fraction.  PG&E does 

not recount these facts to minimize the dangers of gas leaks.  Quite the opposite, PG&E has 

demonstrated throughout this proceeding the seriousness with which it has approached its efforts 

to reduce excavation damage through its damage prevention program.  However, SED’s 

arguments regarding the severity of the alleged violations must be viewed with some perspective.  

The probability of a serious incident due to known excavation damage on a gas distribution 

system is low.  An approximate $111 million fine greatly surpasses what is necessary to continue 

to address the risks of gas distribution leaks and deter future at-fault dig-ins.

Economic Harm: SED does not provide support for its assertion that the “economic 

harm” identified during its investigation justifies the recommended fine.  Rather, SED’s 

proposed fine dwarfs by several orders of magnitude even the most aggressive estimates of 

property damage or other economic harm resulting from the incidents.  The damage estimates in 

SED’s Opening Brief range from $2,000 to $10,000 per incident, with two outliers at $105,000 

(San Jose Incident I) and $302,000 (Carmel incident).55

The Supreme Court’s jurisprudence assessing the legality of punitive damages awards 

provides a useful benchmark.  In that context, the Court has held that “few awards exceeding a 

single-digit ratio between punitive and compensatory damages, to a significant degree, will

satisfy due process.”56 The table below shows the ratio of the proposed SED fines to the asserted 

property damage for the six incidents highlighted in SED’s Opening Brief:57

54 Id. at 8-19 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Paskett). 
55 SED OB at 73.  To the extent additional information on property damage is in the record, property 
damage was estimated at less than $50,000.  Ex. 6, Attachment W060 at W060.001 (30-Day Letter from 
Glen Carter, PG&E to Raffy Stepanian, Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm’n (Oct. 28, 2010)); id., Attachment W062 
at W062.001 (30-Day Letter from Glen Carter, PG&E to Raffy Stepanian, Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm’n 
(April 15, 2010)).
56 State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 425 (2003).
57 SED OB at 73.
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Incident SED’s Total 
Proposed Fines

Property Damage 
Estimate

Ratio of Proposed 
Fine to Property 

Damage

Castro Valley $1.42 million $2,000 710:1

Morgan Hill $5.378 million $2,000 2,689:1

Milpitas I $2.074 million $2,000 1,037:1

Mountain View $5.786 million $10,000 584:1

Carmel $31.58 million $302,000 104:1

San Jose I $100,000 $105,000 0.95:1

For five out of six of these incidents, SED’s proposed fines yield ratios that vastly exceed 

the 9:1 threshold that the Supreme Court has identified as the outer limit of acceptability.

SED closes its treatment of economic harm with speculative statements about purported 

economic harm from service interruptions and “public trust harm.”58 These assertions do not 

support the recommended fine based on economic harm from PG&E’s alleged violations.

Harm to the Regulatory Process: The Commission’s guidance states that “compliance 

is absolutely necessary to the proper functioning of the regulatory process.”59 PG&E agrees.  It 

shares the Commission’s goal of achieving the best possible safety outcome, and submits that it, 

and the industry, would benefit from a Commission rulemaking to define the highest levels of 

compliance, safety performance, and risk reduction.

SED devotes its discussion of the regulatory process exclusively to the De Anza leak 

repair records.60 As is detailed below, PG&E timely disclosed all information about the missing 

records,61 including the fact that the information from the paper leak repair records is captured in 

PG&E’s electronic database.62 PG&E will not repeat those arguments here.  Notably, every 

incident at issue in this proceeding was reported to SED.  There is no evidence in this record that 

58 SED cites, again, to Mayor Burnett’s entirely unfounded testimony.  Id. at 74-75.
59 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *72.
60 SED OB at 75.
61 See infra pp. 37-40.
62 Ex. 33 (PG&E’s Supplemental Response No. 1 to SED Data Request No. 25); see also 1/21/16 at 
437:23 to 441:8 (PG&E/Trevino); id. at 485:1-25 (PG&E/Singh); Ex. 4 at 6-6:28-32 (PG&E Reply 
Testimony, Thierry).
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PG&E misled the Commission, withheld information, or acted other than in good faith.  There is 

no basis for assessing a substantial fine based on harm to the regulatory process.

Number of Violations: The Commission looks to the number of violations as one factor 

in assessing the severity of the offense.63 As is discussed in detail in Appendix A, SED has 

overstated the number of violations through duplicative allegations and overusing the continuing 

violation doctrine.64

2. There Is No Evidence That PG&E Acted in Bad Faith.

California Public Utilities Code section 2104.5 states that the Commission should 

consider “the good faith of the person charged in attempting to achieve compliance.”65 The 

Commission has elaborated on the “good faith” factor, adding that the conduct of the utility 

should be considered, including its “conduct in (1) preventing the violation, (2) detecting the 

violation, and (3) disclosing and rectifying the violation.”66

As a threshold matter, there is no evidence that PG&E acted in bad faith.  There is no 

justification for penalizing PG&E because it was unable to prevent all the alleged violations—if 

the Commission finds that violations were, in fact, committed.  Of course, PG&E strives to 

prevent violations, even though no utility is perfect, as SED’s experts conceded.67 After these 

incidents occurred, PG&E immediately went about correcting any errors in its maps and records 

that may have been contributing factors.68 Indeed, PG&E’s actions went significantly beyond 

mere corrections to maps and records and included wholesale changes to how its gas distribution 

63 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *73.
64 See infra Appendix A at pp. A-2 to A-6.
65 Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 2104.5.
66 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *73.
67 1/19/16 Tr. at 44:5-15 (SED/PWA) (PWA stating that it “[does not] know a pipeline operator who has 
perfect maps and records” and that it “seriously doubt[s] that there is . . . a pipeline operator that is in full 
compliance [with the applicable regulations]”); Ex. 16 at 5 (SED’s Consolidated Response to Dec. 22, 
2015 Meet and Confer Demands & Dec. 1, 2015 Data Requests) (“PWA consultants are not aware of 
utility companies whose maps and records contain no inaccuracies.”).
68 See Ex. 6, Attachment W040 at W040.002-.016 (PG&E’s Final Statement of Facts) (explaining that 
after each of the six incidents discussed in the OII, PG&E corrected any of the underlying maps and 
records that were inaccurate).
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employees approach virtually every aspect of their work.69 These measures have been 

commended by PWA.70

3. SED’s Recommended Fine Is Not Necessary to Deter Future 
Violations of the Pipeline Safety Regulations.

In considering an operator’s ability to pay a fine, the Commission looks to “adjust fine 

levels to achieve the objective of deterrence, without becoming excessive, based on each utility’s 

financial resources.”71 Nowhere is it stated that a more financially resourceful utility should 

automatically be subject to greater fines.  Thus, the question is not whether PG&E can afford the 

proposed penalty; rather, the right question is, what penalty level is necessary to deter future 

conduct?  As is evident from PG&E’s numerous and varied corrective actions detailed in 

PG&E’s testimony and the PWA Report, PG&E has demonstrated a continuous commitment to 

embedding safety culture in the DNA of its gas operations organization and mitigating the risk 

that similar incidents reoccur.

The Commission is already on record as remarking in 2011, in the context of a more 

serious incident than anything alleged here, that a $97 million penalty “is moderate to large in 

comparison to the size of PG&E’s operation of its public utility business, and would serve as a 

significant deterrent to ensure that similar incidents do not occur in the future.”72 And, even after 

finding that $97 million would deter future conduct, the Commission ordered a $38 million 

fine.73 This result suggests, correctly, that the goal should not be to find a number high enough 

to inflict maximum pain.  Instead, the Commission should determine an appropriate penalty 

under the circumstances.  SED’s recommendation is not reasonable in light of PG&E’s ongoing 

commitment and progress in improving safety.

69 See PG&E OB at 17-30, App. A.
70 Ex. 1 at 59-67 tbl.9 (PWA Report); see PG&E OB at 17-18, App. A.
71 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *76.
72 Order Instituting Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion into the Operations & Practices of Pac. 
Gas & Elec. Co.,  Regarding the Gas Explosion & Fire on Dec. 24, 2008 in Rancho Cordova, Cal.,  D. 
11-11-001, 2011 Cal. PUC LEXIS 509, at *60.
73 D. 11-11-001, 2011 Cal. PUC LEXIS 509, at *62.
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4. The Totality of the Circumstances in Furtherance of the Public 
Interest Further Undermines SED’s Recommended Fine.

In weighing the totality of the circumstances, the Commission balances competing factors 

to be considered, most of which overlap with those already discussed above: the severity of the 

offense, potential for harm to persons and property, number of years of non-compliance, number 

of missed opportunities to discover and correct the non-compliance, harm to the integrity of the 

regulatory process, inadequacy of the regular reviews of the utility’s own operations, size of the 

utility, precedent, self-discovery of the issue, self-reporting, no known harm to persons or 

property, and quick actions.74 In addition, the Commission has stated that any fine should be 

specifically tailored “to the unique facts of the case,” including those that “tend to mitigate the 

degree of wrongdoing.”75 SED has not examined any of these factors in detail in arguing for its 

proposed fine, relying instead on the conclusory assurance that “[a]ggravating and mitigating 

facts have been appropriately weighted.”76

A number of these factors should mitigate any fine ultimately imposed in this case.  First, 

the most serious incident in this case, the Carmel explosion, was caused by a unique confluence 

of circumstances—an unknown plastic insert, a damaged sewer lateral, and the unsealed 

plumbing of the nearby home—two of which are unrelated to PG&E’s conduct, and all three of 

which are relatively unlikely to recur simultaneously.77 Additionally, while an unknown plastic 

insert was also involved in the Mountain View incident, there is no evidence that unmapped 

plastic inserts are a widespread problem in PG&E’s gas distribution system.78 Second, while 

PG&E recognizes that the Commission will also consider potential harm, the incidents at issue in 

this proceeding are characterized by a lack of bodily harm and, with the exception of the Carmel 

74 Resolution ALJ-277, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 629, at *9-10, 13-14 (discussing violations related to 
failure to include 16 plat maps on the leak survey schedule). 
75 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *76.  The Commission directs that harm shall be 
evaluated from the perspective of the public.  Id.
76 SED OB at 92.
77 PG&E OB at 52-53.
78 1/20/16 Tr. at 306:2-8 (PG&E/Higgins) (stating that since the incident in Carmel, PG&E has not 
encountered any unmapped plastic inserts as a result of using the gas carrier pipe checklist). 
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incident, relatively modest amounts of property damage.79 Third, each of the 19 incidents 

discussed in the PWA Report was reported by PG&E to the Commission pursuant to General 

Order 112-E, section 122.80 PG&E’s prompt reporting of these incidents to the Commission 

mitigates the degree of alleged wrongdoing.

SED argues that “PG&E has a track record of violations, and needs to improve its 

practices.”81 As an initial matter, this overstates the scope of the issues identified in the OII.  

SED admits that it did not conduct a comprehensive review of PG&E’s gas distribution 

recordkeeping system.82 Instead, it identified a mere 19 incidents out of—to compare to one 

benchmark—the more than two million locate and mark tickets that PG&E worked over the 

relevant time period.83 SED still has not explained how it could draw such a sweeping 

conclusion from the evidentiary record in this case, and its own experts agreed that it could not.84

SED also has not acknowledged that its own experts agree that PG&E has already “improve[d] 

its operation” with the many corrective actions that have already been implemented.85 PG&E’s 

corrective actions, many of which were initiated in pursuit of continuous improvement and not in 

79 Shortly before PG&E filed its Opening Brief, a personal injury lawsuit was filed against PG&E for 
damages allegedly resulting from the Carmel house explosion.  Nevertheless, there is no allegation at 
issue in this proceeding that the explosion caused any bodily harm.
80 See Ex. 9, Attachment E011 at E011.010 (Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, General Order No. 112-E,
§ 122.2(a) (Aug. 21, 2008)) (requiring PG&E to report certain events to the Commission, including a 
release of gas that leads to injury or property damage or events that attract public attention or media 
coverage); see, e.g., Ex. 6, Attachment W040 at W040.002, .004-.005, .008 (PG&E’s Final Statement of 
Facts) (stating that PG&E reported the Castro Valley, Morgan Hill, and Mountain View incidents to the 
CPUC due to media being observed on the scene).
81 SED OB at 92.
82 1/19/16 Tr. at 81:6 to 82:14 (SED/PWA); see PG&E OB at 15-16.
83 1/19/16 Tr. at 77:9 to 80:19 (SED/PWA); see Ex. 4 at 7-Ex. 2 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Huriaux).
84 1/19/16 Tr. at 79:26 to 80:19 (SED/PWA).
85 Ex. 2 at 43-44 tbl.2 (PWA Rebuttal) (“PWA agrees and has stated in its testimony that PG&E’s 
current efforts to improve its operation are extensive, and in many cases appear to represent best or 
innovative practices.”).
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direct response to an incident,86 demonstrate the Company’s commitment to improving the safety 

of its operations and a desire to reduce the chances of future incidents.

5. There Is No Precedent for a $111 Million Fine for Incidents Without 
Fatalities.

In its final consideration, the Commission must “address previously issued decisions 

involving sanctions, including ones with the most reasonably comparable facts.”87 The analysis 

should account for any “substantial differences in outcome.”88 PG&E respectfully submits that a 

meaningful evaluation of past precedents requires the identification of distinguishing 

characteristics on which to base thoughtful comparisons.  The primary distinguishing 

characteristics of the incidents at issue in this proceeding are (1) absence of fatalities or bodily 

injury, (2) minor to severe property damage or customer inconvenience, and (3) recordkeeping 

issues.  Thus, PG&E submits that precedents based on “reasonably comparable” facts generally 

consist of prior Commission decisions in which fines have been imposed in response to non-

fatality and non-injury incidents with some evidence of the second and third characteristics, 

namely, evidence of property damage, customer inconvenience, and/or recordkeeping issues.  

The maximum fine that PG&E has enumerated above exceeds the level suggested by 

Commission precedents.  And, as discussed below, such precedents do not support SED’s 

recommended fine.

a. The San Bruno Incident Is Not a “Reasonably Comparable” 
Precedent.

SED argues that the San Bruno and other incidents are relevant precedents because they 

“demonstrate[] that PG&E is a frequent violator.”89 It is not sufficient to cite Commission

86 See, e.g., Ex. 4 at 3-7:23 to 3-8:2 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins) (explaining that “PG&E 
launched Super Gas Ops in response to employee feedback to improve [work flow and efficiency within 
Gas Operations]”); id. at 1-23:22 to 1-24:10 (describing PG&E’s commitment to continuous improvement 
and how that is evidenced by the Company’s “regular solicitation and consideration of internal feedback 
and third-party perspectives”).
87 Resolution ALJ-277, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 629, at *27-28.
88 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *60.
89 SED OB at 93.
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precedent involving a single incident and then assert that the operator is a recidivist and therefore 

deserves a larger fine.  Rather, the Commission has instructed parties to address cases that 

“involve the most reasonably comparable factual circumstances.”90 By that measure, the San 

Bruno incident is not an appropriate precedent.

PG&E has repeatedly acknowledged its deep regret for the San Bruno tragedy, in which 

the rupture of a transmission pipeline resulted in an explosion and fire resulting in eight deaths 

and extraordinary property damage.  PG&E was fined $1.6 billion.  San Bruno is in no way 

comparable to the alleged violations cited by SED in this OII.  Among the many differences 

between this proceeding and San Bruno are that this OII is focused on the gas distribution 

system, not the transmission system, none of the incidents here resulted in death or injury, and 

the property damage can be measured in the hundreds of thousands of dollars,91 rather than 

the hundreds of millions.  The fine levied by the Commission in that situation is not a useful 

comparator except to the extent it illustrates the unreasonableness of the fine proposed by the 

City of Carmel, which is nearly half of the San Bruno fine.92

b. The Malibu Canyon Fire and San Diego Fire Settlements Also 
Illustrate That SED’s Recommended Fine Is Excessive.

The Malibu Canyon Fire occurred when three utility poles fell to the ground during a 

Santa Ana windstorm.93 The utility admitted that “one of these poles was overloaded in violation 

of General Order [No.] 95 due to the facilities that were attached to the pole by another utility 

[and also] that it violated California Public Utilities Code section 451 [ ] when it failed to take 

prompt action to prevent the pole overloading.”94 The fire burned 3,836 acres and caused 

90 D. 98-12-075, 1998 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1018, at *60.
91 SED OB at 73.
92 See Carmel OB at 2; see also infra pp. 28-30.
93 Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion into the Operations & Practices of S. Cal. Edison Co., et 
al. Regarding the Util. Facilities & the Canyon Fire in Malibu of Oct. 2007, D. 13-09-028, 2013 Cal. 
PUC LEXIS 514, at *1.
94 Id.
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roughly $14.5 million in property damage.95 Southern California Edison agreed to pay a fine of 

$20 million, three telecommunications providers—who were joint owners of the pole—

collectively paid $6.9 million, and a fourth telecommunications provider paid an $8.5 million 

fine.96 The total fine payable to the state General Fund was $35.4 million.97 SED’s Opening 

Brief states that the parties settled for $63.5 million, but that amount includes the value of 

restitution paid to private parties in addition to the penalties.98 And, in all events, SED had 

sought $99.2 million in total fines, an amount three times larger than the eventual settlement.99

SED cites the Malibu Canyon Fire as an appropriate analogue to this proceeding, but the 

only similarity between the two is that neither resulted in bodily injury.  There are significant 

differences between the two cases, including the nature and scale of the property damage 

involved.  While the Malibu Canyon Fire resulted in $14.5 million in property damage in the 

form of numerous burned buildings and vehicles, the property damage identified in SED’s 

Opening Brief totals approximately $423,000100 and, aside from the Carmel incident, is largely 

limited to damage to PG&E’s pipelines and the immediate ground coverings.  Yet, SED 

recommends a fine in this OII that is more than three times larger than the Malibu Canyon Fire 

fine.

Another series of fire-related settlements (the “Guejito and Witch and Rice” fires near 

San Diego) resulted in total fines of $14.35 million paid by San Diego Gas & Electric and a 

telecommunications carrier.101 The Guejito and Witch and Rice Fires burned 197,900 acres; two 

people died, approximately 40 firefighters were injured, and approximately 1,141 homes, 

95 Id. at *4. 
96 Id. at *10-11, 12-13.
97 Id. at *47, 62. 
98 SED OB at 93; D. 13-09-028, 2013 Cal. PUC LEXIS 514, at *47.
99 Id. at *10. 
100 See SED OB at 73 (listing the amount of property damage that the record reflects is associated with six 
of the incidents).
101 Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion into the Operations & Practices of San Diego Gas & 
Elec. Co. Regarding the Util. Facilities Linked to the Witch & Rice Fires of Oct. 2007, D. 10-04-047,
2010 Cal. PUC LEXIS 142, at *22-23.
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509 outbuildings, and 239 vehicles were destroyed, while 77 homes and 25 outbuildings were

damaged.102 These wildfires had many times the impact of the incidents here, but the fines paid 

were substantially less than the fine SED recommends.

6. Penalties Imposed for the Carmel Citation, 2011 Missing Leak 
Surveys, and the Rancho Cordova Incident Suggest a “Reasonably 
Comparable” Range for a Penalty in This Case.

First, the Commission imposed a $10.85 million fine in connection with the citation 

issued to PG&E for the Carmel incident, which alleged two violations for failing to equip its 

personnel with the tools necessary to stop the flow of gas and failing to make the surrounding 

area safe despite signs of a possible leak.103 That $10.85 million fine suggests a ceiling on the 

appropriate penalty for any individual incident in the OII.  The severity of the Carmel incident 

was many times that of any of the other incidents in this case.  Notwithstanding PG&E’s 

acknowledgment of the economic harm, potential harm, and inconvenience caused by each 

incident, because of the unique facts of Carmel, no other single incident should warrant a fine 

approaching $10.85 million.

The proposed fines for the other incidents should be evaluated with reference to their 

proportionality to the Carmel fine.  For example, SED has recommended total fines of 

$5.12 million for the Milpitas II incident, which resulted in no injuries and only $2,000 in 

property damage.104 SED’s recommendation is almost half the Carmel fine amount despite the 

dramatic differences in the incidents.  SED proposes a $5.378 million fine for the Morgan Hill 

incident, which also involved only $2,000 in property damage.105 SED claims the Fresno 

incident, a dig-in resulting in one service interruption,106 warrants a $6.32 million fine.107 These 

102 Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion into the Operations & Practices of Cox Commc’ns & San 
Diego Gas & Elec. Co. Regarding the Util. Facilities Linked to the Guejito Fire of Oct. 2007, I. 08-11-
007, 2008 Cal. PUC LEXIS 445, at *32.
103 Resolution ALJ-323, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 757, at *1-2, 6-7.
104 SED OB at 73, 77, 85-86.
105 Id. at 73, 77, 84-85.
106 Ex. 1 at 23 tbl.2 (PWA Report).
107 SED OB at 78, 85-86.
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examples, and the further discussion above and in Appendices A and B, support the conclusion 

that SED’s recommended fines are disproportionate to the harm caused by the incidents.

Second, the penalty associated with a set of missing leak surveys (Leak Survey Incident) 

is also relevant to the Commission’s inquiry.108 In 2011, PG&E self-reported to the Commission 

its discovery of 16 plat maps containing 13.83 miles of distribution mains and 1,242 services that 

had not been included in PG&E’s leak survey schedule.109 Upon discovery of this oversight, 

PG&E notified the Commission and, among other things, immediately leak surveyed all of the 

affected mains and services.110 The leak surveys identified 23 leaks, the most serious one of 

which was immediately repaired.111 The Commission found that there were 838 violations of 49 

C.F.R. §192.723(b)(2).112 The violations were compounded monthly and PG&E was ordered to 

pay a fine of $20,000 per violation, for a total of $16.76 million.113

The factual circumstances of the Leak Survey Incident are both similar yet also, in some 

ways, more concerning than the incidents in this OII (with the exception of Carmel).  Similar, in 

that the violations resulted from an inaccurate document, in that case, the incomplete leak survey 

schedule.  The Leak Survey Incident involved the gas distribution system, as is the focus of this 

OII.  Following the missed leak surveys in that case, PG&E discovered 23 gas leaks, which is 

roughly equivalent to the number of gas leaks caused by the dig-ins and construction work at 

issue in this case.114 Different, in that the potential harm extended to a much larger geographic 

area in that case, as PG&E had not timely leak surveyed significant portions of seven East Bay 

cities.115 The Leak Survey Incident also involved over a thousand gas distribution services and 

108 See id. at 92. 
109 Resolution ALJ-277, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 629, at *2.
110 Id. at *3.
111 Id. at *3.
112 Id. at *4-6, 10. 
113 Id. at *13-14.
114 The 19 incidents described in the PWA Report resulted in 18 unplanned releases of gas.  See SED OB 
at 77 (noting that Milpitas I did not result in a release of gas); Ex. 1 at 14 tbl.1, 15-24 tbl.2.
115 Resolution ALJ-277, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 629, at *2 (listing to the Contra Costa County cities of 
Antioch, Brentwood, Byron, Concord, Danville, Discovery Bay, and Pittsburg).
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over 13 miles of distribution mains.116 The incidents in this OII do not come close to implicating 

that large a portion of PG&E’s gas distribution system.117 Accordingly, the Commission said of 

the Leak Survey Incident that “PG&E’s offenses were severe. . . .  The potential public harm 

from these violations was great. The violations were significant, with the capacity for serious 

injury to persons and property[.]”118 Even in the wake of these serious findings, the Commission 

agreed that the violations should be compounded monthly, not daily.  The total fine of 

$16.76 million was less than one-fifth the SED’s recommended fine in this proceeding even 

though the facts were no less concerning.

Third, the Rancho Cordova incident involved a leak on a repaired distribution main that 

resulted in an explosion and fire that killed one person and injured two others.119 PG&E 

continues to feel remorse for these tragic events.  The accident was the result of the improper use 

of “packing pipe” to repair the pipeline and a failure to perform a required pressure test.120

PG&E and SED proposed a joint stipulated settlement of $26 million payable to the General 

Fund.121 The Commission ordered PG&E to pay $38 million.122 The Rancho Cordova incident,

again unlike the incidents here, involved loss of life and serious bodily injury.  The closest 

analogue in this OII to Rancho Cordova is the Carmel incident, because it also involved a house 

explosion.  The incidents are notably distinguishable, however, in that Carmel was caused by a 

unique confluence of events.  In addition, nothing about the Rancho Cordova incident could have 

put PG&E on notice that an unmapped plastic insert might one day contribute to a house 

explosion (e.g., the Carmel incident).  Given the Rancho Cordova incident’s nexus to the gas 

distribution system (similar to the incidents in this OII) and its extremely tragic consequences 

116 Id. (noting that 1,242 services and 13.83 miles of mains were involved).
117 There were only 19 mains and services at issue in this proceeding.  See Ex. 1 at 14 tbl.1, 15-24 tbl.2 
(PWA Report) (describing the underlying causes of each incident).
118 Resolution ALJ-277, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 629, at *14.
119 D. 11-11-001, 2011 Cal. PUC LEXIS 509, at *1, 8-9.
120 Id. at *24-28, 28 n.12.
121 Id. at*45.
122 Id. at *62.
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(far in excess of the incidents in this OII), it is reasonable to view the $38 million fine in the 

Rancho Cordova incident as the outer limit of the range of fines that would be appropriate in this 

case.

In sum, there is no Commission precedent for a nine-figure fine for incidents resulting in 

significantly fewer consequences.  However, the $10.85 million Carmel citation, the 

$16.75 million fine for the Leak Survey Incident, and the $38 million Rancho Cordova fine all 

suggest that a penalty, if any, ranging from $5 million to $38 million could be appropriate in this 

case—if the Commission decided that violations had actually occurred.  The $33.636 million 

maximum penalty described above by PG&E is near the high end of this range and is more 

appropriate than $111.926 million in light of the balancing of the traditional factors considered 

by the Commission.

B. Spoliation Does Not Apply, and No Adverse Inferences Should Be Drawn to 
Maximize the Penalty Against PG&E.

SED argues that the Commission should apply spoliation to draw adverse inferences 

against PG&E in making its penalty determination, basing its argument on the Commission’s 

ruling in D. 15-04-021.123 PG&E disagrees, because SED has not shown that PG&E destroyed 

or failed to preserve evidence in reasonably foreseeable litigation, and the facts supporting the 

Commission’s finding in the transmission recordkeeping OII (D. 15-04-021) are critically 

distinguishable from the ones at issue here.124

Spoliation is “the destruction or significant alteration of evidence, or the failure to 

preserve property for another’s use as evidence in pending or reasonably foreseeable 

litigation.”125 In D. 15-04-021, the Commission found that PG&E’s inability to produce testing 

and maintenance records for its transmission pipelines prompted application of spoliation 

123 Order Instituting Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion into the Operations & Practices of Pac. 
Gas & Elec. Co. with Respect to Facilities Records for its Nat. Gas Transmission Sys. Pipelines, D. 15-
04-021, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 228, at *50-51.
124 See Reeves v. MV Transp., Inc., 186 Cal. App. 4th 666, 681 (2010).
125 Id. at 681 (quoting Byrnie v. Town of Cromwell Bd. of Educ., 243 F.3d 93, 107 (2d Cir. 2001)). 
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because: (1) PG&E had a statutory obligation to preserve the records; (2) the records ensured 

PG&E was operating safely and served to protect PG&E from future litigation should a safety 

related injury occur; and (3) PG&E should have reasonably expected litigation resulting from the 

safety of its operations due to the inherently dangerous nature of natural gas.126

No analogous finding is warranted in this matter.  PG&E does not dispute that it had an 

obligation to preserve records at issue.  But it is inaccurate to state that PG&E’s distribution 

records guarantee the system’s safe operation, or that regulations require or expect that records 

will be perfect.  The facts that the regulations do not require perfection and that every operator 

has imperfections in its records, well established in this proceeding, demonstrates that although 

accurate records play an important role in the safe operation of PG&E’s distribution system, they 

are not an ultimate guarantor of safety.127 PG&E’s approach to safety involves layers of security 

against the risk of an incident, with each layer consisting of multiple mitigations, and each layer 

further mitigating risk for the layer behind it.128 Although PG&E fully acknowledges the 

importance of accurate records to the safety of its distribution system, it is inaccurate to 

characterize such records as guaranteeing the system’s safe operation.129

Furthermore, the Commission’s finding in D. 15-04-021 that every record related to the 

testing or maintenance of PG&E’s transmission system was evidence in reasonably foreseeable 

litigation due to the inherent danger of natural gas appears to be limited to the unique 

circumstances of the San Bruno proceedings.  California courts apply spoliation as a discovery 

sanction against parties who “misuse . . . the discovery process”130 by destroying or failing to 

126 D. 15-04-021, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 228, at *50-51.
127 1/19/16 Tr. at 44:9-10 (SED/PWA) (PWA stating that it “[does not] know a pipeline operator who has 
perfect maps and records”); Ex. 16 at 5 (SED’s Consolidated Response to Dec. 22, 2015 Meet and Confer 
Demands & Dec. 1, 2015 Data Requests) (“PWA consultants are not aware of utility companies whose 
maps and records contain no inaccuracies.”).
128 Ex. 4 at 1-17:12 to 1-18:9 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe) (describing PG&E’s Gas Safety 
Excellence framework).
129 To the extent SED focuses on PG&E’s loss of certain of the De Anza Division A Forms, its argument 
for spoliation is fatally flawed due to the total disconnect between those lost records and the safety of 
PG&E’s distribution system.  See PG&E OB at 51-52. 
130 Cedars-Sinai Med. Ctr. v. Super. Ct., 18 Cal. 4th 1, 12 (1998).
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preserve evidence in “pending or future litigation.”131 At the crux of the case law is, therefore, 

something missing from the instant matter: the connection of the allegedly spoliated documents 

to “pending or future” litigation.132 In fact, any destruction or loss of documents relevant to this 

case would squarely implicate the concern voiced by California’s Supreme Court that spoliation 

is intended for litigation-related documents and should not be used to punish parties for 

documents “discarded or misplaced in the ordinary course of events.”133 Because there is no 

evidence that PG&E should have foreseen litigation concerning its distribution system records, 

and because the Commission’s outlier opinion in D. 15-04-021 is the only support for the 

contention that every pipeline record is evidence in reasonably foreseeable litigation, spoliation 

should not apply.

Finally, PG&E respectfully asks the Commission to consider the broader implications of 

a rule that would find a pipeline operator to have destroyed or failed to preserve evidence and 

consequently would impose the ultimate evidentiary sanction every time that the operator 

detected a missing record.134 That result would do nothing to serve the policy underpinning the 

spoliation doctrine, which is to deter parties from destroying evidence in anticipation of 

131 Williams v. Russ, 167 Cal. App. 4th 1215, 1223-24 (2008) (where plaintiff in a legal malpractice case 
requested his client file from the defendant’s attorney, copied certain parts of it and then allowed the 
remainder to be destroyed by failing to pay fees on the storage unit housing the file, the court affirmed the 
trial court’s sanction of dismissal).
132 Id. at 1223; see New Albertsons, Inc. v. Super. Ct., 168 Cal. App. 4th 1403, 1431 (2008) (citing 
Cedars-Sinai Med. Ctr., 18 Cal. 4th at 15 (refusing to apply spoliation as discovery sanction where 
defendant supermarket had allowed relevant surveillance videotapes to be recorded over, because 
defendant did not disobey a discovery order and because of the concern that “the evidence was destroyed 
innocently in the ordinary course of business”); TSMC, N. Am. v. SMIC Ams., 2009 Cal. Super. LEXIS 
627, at *11-12 (Sept. 10, 2009) (stating that “[n]o California case has identified an obligation to retain 
documents in anticipation of litigation more than a year before a lawsuit was filed,” although nevertheless 
applying spoliation due to the “unusual fact[]” that the party arguing against spoliation had itself 
identified the pertinent documents as having been prepared in anticipation of litigation). 
133 Cedars-Sinai Med. Ctr., 18 Cal. 4th at 15.
134 See Reeves, 186 Cal. App. 4th at 681.
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litigation.135 In fact, PG&E’s incentives are exactly the opposite; it has no reason to destroy the 

very records that would be exculpatory if they were found.  Because none of the policy 

justifications underlying spoliation are implicated here, PG&E asks the Commission to find the 

doctrine inapplicable.136

C. SED’s Methodology for Calculating Penalties Is Inaccurate.

PG&E submits that SED’s methodologies for counting violations and calculating 

penalties contain numerous errors.  As a consequence, SED overstates both the number of 

violations and the resulting penalties.  These errors in SED’s calculations are fully explained in 

Appendix A hereto.

D. Carmel’s Recommended Fines Should Be Entirely Disregarded.

Carmel says that it defers to SED and the Commission to identify the appropriate penalty 

in this proceeding.137 Carmel nevertheless would “support” a penalty of $651 million, which it 

calculates solely based on allegations involving the six incidents that prompted the OII. 138 That 

is over $100 million per incident, some of which, such as those in Milpitas, Castro Valley, and 

Morgan Hill, caused only the temporary interruption of service for a handful of customers.139

Carmel’s proposed penalty is more than five times the number proposed by SED for all the 

135 See Cal. Evid. Code § 413 (“In determining what inferences to draw from the evidence or facts in the 
case against a party, the trier of fact may consider, among other things, the party’s . . . willful suppression 
of evidence relating thereto . . . .”); R.S. Creative, Inc. v. Creative Cotton, Ltd., 75 Cal. App. 4th 486, 495, 
497 (1999) (describing spoliation as a misuse of discovery for which “[a] traditional remedy . . . is 
discovery sanctions”).
136 Additionally, the Commission’s finding in D. 15-04-021 that PG&E’s negligent loss of records 
satisfied the requirement of a culpable state of mind should not be applied here.  See D. 15-04-021, 2015 
Cal. PUC LEXIS 228, at *53-54.  PG&E’s loss of certain records “result[ed] [in] injury to the [San 
Bruno] investigation,” whereas here, SED has failed to show any such harm to its ability to prove the case 
it presented in the PWA Report from the lost De Anza A Forms.  Indeed, SED should be precluded from 
making any claims in regard to the missing De Anza A Forms at this late stage in the proceeding.  See 
infra pp. 30-40.
137 Carmel OB at 17.  
138 Id. at 2, Ex. A.
139 Ex. 6, Attachment W040 at W040.002-.005 (PG&E’s Final Statement of Facts).
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issues in this case, which includes 13 additional incidents, the missing De Anza records, and 

allegations regarding PG&E’s policy for setting MAOP since the 1970s.

To arrive at this grossly inflated number, Carmel has misrepresented the record and the 

law in several significant respects.  For example, Carmel has assigned a penalty of “$2 million / 

flat” to several alleged violations of section 192.605 without providing any explanation or legal 

basis.140 PG&E understands this figure to be based on a federal code provision that permits the 

U.S. Secretary of Transportation to impose a maximum $2 million penalty for “a related series of 

violations” of the pipeline safety regulations.141 As is plain from the language of that regulation, 

and as the Commission has previously recognized, it is inapplicable in CPUC proceedings.142

Carmel also argues that, according to California Public Utilities Code section 2104.5, the 

Commission should find that PG&E’s failure to admit to these alleged violations and settle 

SED’s claims weighs in favor of imposing the maximum possible penalty.143 Section 2104.5

merely gives the Commission the power to settle a claim; it says nothing about punishing a 

respondent for defending itself against alleged violations.144 Carmel’s allegations regarding the 

parties’ settlement discussions are not only irrelevant, but they also violate CPUC Rule of 

140 Carmel OB at Ex. A.
141 49 U.S.C. § 60122(a)(1).
142 Id. (“A person that the Secretary of Transportation decides, after written notice and an opportunity for 
a hearing, has violated . . . a regulation prescribed or order issued under this chapter . . . .”) (emphasis 
added); Order Instituting Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion into the Operations & Practices of 
Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. to Determine Violations of Pub. Util. Code Section 451, Gen. Order 112, & Other 
Applicable Standards, Laws, Rules & Regulations in Connection with the San Bruno Explosion & Fire on 
Sept. 9, 2010, D. 15-04-024, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 230, at *309 (finding 49 U.S.C. § 60122(a)(1)
inapplicable to the Commission’s damages calculation Pub. Util. Code section 2107 and 2108).  
143 Carmel OB at 17-18.
144 Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 2104.5.
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Practice and Procedure 12.6, which forbids any disclosure of confidential settlement discussions 

in proceedings before the Commission.145

Many of Carmel’s other misapplications of the law are explained elsewhere in PG&E’s 

submission.  For example, Carmel’s claim that the failure to follow a procedure for updating a 

record constitutes a “continuing violation” is contrary to Commission precedent, which holds 

that “it is the violation itself that must be ongoing, not its result.”146 And there is not even an 

allegation, much less any evidence, that would support Carmel’s proposed penalties for 

violations of the code section requiring PG&E to “prepare” certain procedures.147 There is 

likewise no basis for Carmel’s characterization of all six of the incidents identified in the OII as 

“severe” events for which PG&E ignored “many warning signs.”148

In these and many other ways, Carmel’s $651 million “calculation” is replete with 

unexplained assumptions and misapplications of the law.  Given that Carmel’s damages 

calculation lacks any basis and that Carmel has deferred to SED to arrive at the proper number, 

PG&E respectfully submits that the penalty should be based on the examination of SED’s 

proposed penalty alone, and in any event not exceed $33.636 million.

IV. VIOLATIONS

A. The Commission Should Not Consider the New Violations That SED Alleged 
for the First Time After Filing Its Supplemental Testimony.

In its Opening Brief, SED describes alleged violations that were not identified in the OII 

or in SED’s Supplemental Testimony (the PWA Report).149 Ordering penalties based on these 

145 Carmel OB at 17-18; Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, Rules of Practice & Procedure, Rule 12.6 (“No 
discussion, admission, concession or offer to settle, whether oral or written, made during any negotiation
on a settlement shall be subject to discovery, or admissible in any evidentiary hearing against any 
participant who objects to its admission.  Participating parties and their representatives shall hold such 
discussions, admissions, concessions, and offers to settle confidential and shall not disclose them outside 
the negotiations without the consent of the parties participating in the negotiations.”).
146 See infra Appendix A at pp. A-2.
147 See PG&E OB at 43-44 (discussing alleged violations of section 192.605(a)); supra pp. 42–45.
148 Carmel OB at 18.
149 SED OB at 79-85, 87.
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late-asserted violations would not comport with due process, which requires that PG&E be given 

notice of the specific charges against it before the state may deprive it of its property.150 That 

“basic ingredient” of fair procedure gives meaning to the guarantee of a hearing because without 

such notice, the respondent is left “without an opportunity to make [its] defense.”151 California 

courts have applied this fundamental tenet to condemn the late assertion of new charges in 

administrative proceedings.152

In In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544 (1968), the Supreme Court found a due process violation in 

an administrative hearing involving disbarment proceedings where the attorney under 

investigation was not given notice that certain facts would form the basis for disciplinary actions 

“until after . . . [he] had testified at length on all the material facts pertaining to this phase of the 

case.”153 The Court held that the charges against the petitioner had to be “known before the 

proceedings commence” and could not be “amended on the basis of testimony of the accused” 

without running afoul of the petitioner’s due process rights.154

PG&E’s only opportunity to present facts to respond to SED’s allegations was in its 

Reply Testimony, at which time PG&E could not have rebutted allegations of which it had no 

notice. Here, SED not only alleged a number of violations for the first time after PG&E filed its 

direct testimony, but used PG&E’s testimony at the hearing as the basis for violations alleged for 

150 Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67, 80 (1972).
151 Pinsker v. Pac. Coast Soc’y of Orthodontists, 12 Cal. 3d 541, 555 (1974); see also Mathews v. 
Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965)); Rosenblit 
v. Super. Ct., 231 Cal. App. 3d 1434, 1447-48 (1991); Hackethal v. Cal. Med. Ass’n, 138 Cal. App. 3d 
435, 444 (1982).
152 See Rosenblit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1447-48; Hackethal, 138 Cal. App. 3d at 444.
153 In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. at 550-51.
154 Id. at 551-52.
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the first time in SED’s Opening Brief.155 Under Ruffalo and the other cited precedents, allowing 

those allegations to proceed to decision would constitute a due process violation.156

PG&E acknowledges that in D. 15-04-023, the San Bruno proceedings,157 the 

Commission rejected PG&E’s argument that SED had unfairly asserted new violations and legal 

theories for the first time in its Opening Brief.158 The Commission found Rosenblit inapplicable 

because “the alleged acts and omissions relied upon” had been described in the San Bruno OII 

and SED initial report.159 The Commission’s ruling does not foreclose the argument in this case.  

Unlike in D. 15-04-023, SED has not merely provided “greater specificity” with regard to 

previously identified regulatory violations; SED has alleged entirely new violations, many based 

on facts that were not referenced at all in the OII or the PWA Report.160 As was true in 

Rosenblit, the infirmity of this process lies in SED’s pursuit of belated allegations based on an 

undeveloped factual record.161

PG&E’s Reply Testimony and hearing preparation concentrated on responding to the 

allegations in PWA’s report in order to provide the Commission with a useful record that 

focused on the issues in dispute.  The process and structure provided for by the Commission’s 

rules and the Scoping Memo in this proceeding would be illusory if SED could pursue violations 

155 See SED OB at 50-51 (alleging that PG&E committed a “substantial recordkeeping failure” with 
regard to the missing De Anza A Forms based largely on PG&E’s testimony from the hearing).
156 See In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. at 550-52.  Similarly, in Rosenblit, the court found a due process violation 
where a physician facing disciplinary action was denied the opportunity to know “the specific acts or 
omissions” underlying the charged offenses.  231 Cal. App. 3d  at 1434, 1446.
157 Order Instituting Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion into the Operations & Practices of Pac. 
Gas & Elec. Co. to Determine Violations of Pub. Utils. Code Section 451, Gen. Order 112, & Other 
Applicable Standards, Laws, Rules & Regulations in Connection with the San Bruno Explosion & Fire on
Sept. 9, 2010, D. 15-04-023, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 229, at *89-90.  Although PG&E does not agree that 
the Commission’s ruling in D. 15-04-023 went far enough to protect PG&E’s due process rights, the facts 
here are different, making the analysis in D. 15-04-023 inapplicable.
158 Id.
159 Id. at *88.
160 Id. at *86-87.
161 See Rosenblit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1445-46.
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based on allegations that did not receive a full and fair hearing.  For all of these reasons, the 

violations that were not referenced in the OII or in the PWA Report should be disregarded.

B. De Anza Division Leak Repair Records

SED makes the wholly unsubstantiated assertion that the missing De Anza Division leak 

repair records, which are referred to internally at PG&E as “A Forms,” were somehow causally 

related to the Mountain View incident.162 There is no evidence in the record even hinting at such 

a connection, and based on the evidence in the record, it is virtually certain that no such 

connection exists.

1. There Is No Evidence That the Missing A Forms Contributed to the 
Mountain View Incident or Created a Meaningful Risk for PG&E’s 
System.

Without basis, SED has assumed that, “if all of the [leak repair] records were accessible, 

then the Mountain View Incident, which was due to missing records, would not have 

occurred.”163 SED’s assumption is inaccurate, and it would be inappropriate to impose any 

penalty based on this assumption when it is contradicted by all of the relevant evidence.

First, the information PG&E needs to operate its system safely has been routinely 

transferred from paper A Forms into its electronic leak repair records database since 1970, where 

it is still available today.164 Thus, the fact that the paper records are missing does not interfere 

with PG&E’s ability to safely administer its policies as required by 49 C.F.R. § 192.603(b) .165

Second, there is no evidence that the plastic insert accidentally breached in Mountain View was 

installed as part of a leak repair, as opposed to having been installed for some other reason.166

Accordingly, there is no reason to believe that a leak repair record related to that installation was 

162 SED OB at 50.  
163 SED OB at 50.  
164 1/21/16 at 437:23 to 439:17 (PG&E/Trevino); id. at 485:1-25 (PG&E/Singh); Ex. 4 at 6-6:28-32
(PG&E Reply Testimony, Thierry); Ex. 33 (PG&E’s Supplemental Response No. 1 to SED Data Request 
No. 25).
165 PG&E OB at 47 n.292, 52.
166 1/21/16 Tr. at 483:4 to 484:26 (PG&E/Singh).
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ever created.167 Third, even if the Mountain View plastic insert had been installed as part of a

leak repair, that job would have generated a Gas Service Record (GSR) in addition to an A Form, 

and PG&E mappers typically rely on GSRs to update maps.168 There is accordingly no basis for 

concluding that the missing record would have caused the mapping inaccuracy that contributed 

to the Mountain View incident.  Finally, even if there had been a paper A Form reflecting work 

on the pipe in Mountain View, SED has identified no reason why a PG&E crew would have 

reviewed it in preparation for its work.  PG&E crews typically look to job estimates and plat 

maps, not paper leak repair records, to identify assets in the field.169 PG&E personnel who need 

to review leak repair information would look first to the electronic database where such 

information dating back to 1970 is stored, not the paper archive.170 Paper records would only be 

used as backup if a discrepancy is discovered or some question arises.171 For all these reasons, 

SED’s assumption that the missing De Anza leak repair records somehow contributed to the 

incident in Mountain View is not correct.

2. SED Did Not Allege Violations Based on the Missing De Anza Division 
Records Until Its Opening Brief, Long After PG&E Had Submitted 
Its Evidence.

SED asserts for the first time in its Opening Brief that the missing De Anza Division 

paper A Forms give rise to multiple violations of the regulations that together amount to over 

$19 million in proposed penalties.  These include violations for misplacing those paper records, 

allegedly failing to timely investigate the issue, and allegedly failing to disclose the De Anza 

records facts before producing all the relevant information in discovery in this proceeding.172

167 Id.
168 Id. at 413:1-5, 438:22 to 439:10 (PG&E/Trevino); id. at 483:17 to 484:2 (PG&E/Singh).  
169 Ex. 4 at 3-13:13 to 3-15:20 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins); Ex. 6, Attachment W040 at W040.009 
(PG&E’s Final Statement of Facts).
170 1/21/16 Tr. at 437:23 to 439:17 (PG&E/Trevino); id. at 468:16 to 469:14 (PG&E/Singh); id. at 485:1-
25 (PG&E/Singh); Ex. 4 at 6-6:29-32 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Thierry); Ex. 33 (PG&E’s Supplemental 
Response No. 1 to SED Data Request No. 25).
171 1/21/16 Tr. at 488:11 to 489:1 (PG&E/Singh); Ex. 4 at 6-7:30-32 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Thierry).
172 SED OB at 80-81, 83-84.
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These penalties are unwarranted for a number of reasons, most fundamentally because SED 

acknowledged knowing about the missing De Anza records, but gave no indication that it would 

assert any violations based on these facts until after PG&E filed its testimony, depriving PG&E 

of the opportunity to submit evidence addressing the issue.

SED specified the alleged “violations identified during the [PWA] investigation” in a 

section of the PWA Report titled “Evidence of Non-Compliance.”173 The De Anza leak repair 

records were not mentioned among the purported violations.174 Indeed, PWA did not discuss the 

De Anza records anywhere in the Report, except to briefly note in an appendix that PG&E had 

disclosed the information about the De Anza records issue in a data request response months 

earlier.175

PG&E’s only opportunity to present affirmative evidence responding to SED’s 

allegations consisted of its Reply Testimony, served after SED’s Supplemental Testimony and 

before its Rebuttal Testimony.176 In formulating its Reply Testimony, PG&E understandably 

responded to the violations alleged in the PWA Report, and therefore did not submit any 

evidence addressing the De Anza records.  Indeed, at that point there was nothing to which 

PG&E could have responded.  Despite this background, SED criticizes PG&E for its “paltry 

showing” on this subject.177 But the lack of evidence submitted by PG&E is directly attributable 

to SED’s failure to provide timely notice of the alleged violations which it now vigorously 

pursues.

Had PG&E received notice of these allegations, it could have presented a complete 

factual record regarding the nature of the A Form records and the purposes for which they were 

created and used.  Given the opportunity, PG&E would have explained that the purpose of the 

173 Ex. 1 at 36-54 (PWA Report).
174 Id.
175 Id. at 90 (PWA Report).  SED discussed the fact that these records were missing in the PWA Rebuttal 
Report but still did not specify any associated violations, and in any event, by that point PG&E had no 
further opportunity to introduce new responsive evidence.  Ex. 2 at 15, 32, 49 (PWA Rebuttal).  
176 Scoping Memo at 4.
177 SED OB at 51.
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original paper A Forms was to gather leak information for entry into PG&E’s leak tracking 

system.  This information then would have been used to verify that leaks were found and 

repaired in a timely manner, make required reports to regulators, document inspections to 

exposed facilities, and make pipe replacement decisions about when pipe should be replaced.  

PG&E also would have provided a full explanation about its procedures for entering and 

maintaining information from the A Forms in its electronic leak repair records database, and a 

complete description of the information from the 1979 to 1991 De Anza A Forms that is 

preserved to this day in that electronic database.

PG&E also could have comprehensively responded to and rebutted SED’s theory that 

these missing records somehow contributed to the Mountain View incident.178 For example, 

PG&E could have explained specifically why the PG&E construction crew working at the 

Mountain View location would not have used a paper A Form from the De Anza Division 

records in connection with the work performed at the time of the incident.  PG&E also could 

have developed and presented evidence showing that the missing De Anza A Forms were 

unrelated to the Mountain View mapping error because the De Anza records were almost 

certainly misplaced after the leak repair work reflected in those records had been entered onto 

PG&E’s maps, in addition to the fact, noted above, that mappers typically do not use A Forms to 

update maps.179

Finally, PG&E also was deprived of the opportunity to respond fully to SED’s penalty 

recommendations due to the lack of notice of the De Anza violations.  SED proposes a 

$1.29 million penalty for PG&E’s alleged failure to timely investigate this issue.180 The only 

evidence in the record going to this proposed violation is a single note in the Mountain View 

Corrective Action Program (CAP) report based on multiple levels of hearsay, which was raised 

178 Id. at 50.  SED merely asserts, without any evidence, that “if all of the [leak repair] records were 
accessible, then the Mountain View Incident, which was due to missing records, would not have 
occurred.”  Id.
179 See supra pp. 33-34.
180 SED OB at 81.
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for the first time on the afternoon of the last day of the hearing.181 PG&E had no opportunity to 

demonstrate when the missing De Anza records issue first came to light, or how it was 

investigated and resolved prior to and independent of the search prompted by the Mountain View 

incident.182

With very limited exceptions, PG&E was unable to introduce new testimony or exhibits 

into the record by the time of the hearing since the time for making its affirmative case had 

passed.  Although some of this information came in piecemeal through the responses PG&E’s 

witnesses were permitted to give to cross-examination questions, largely over SED’s 

objections,183 it was far from the comprehensive showing that PG&E would have included in its

Reply Testimony had it been on notice of these alleged violations.184

3. PG&E Timely Disclosed All Information Relevant to the De Anza 
Division Records to SED.

SED claims that it ultimately had to “pry” the information about the missing De Anza 

records from PG&E185 and proposes that PG&E should be penalized $8.6 million for not 

181 Id.; 1/21/19 Tr. at 473:10-28 (PG&E/Singh); Ex. 6, Attachment W049 at W049.002 (Gas CAP 
Notification No. 7001870, INC Charleston Street).
182 SED also asserts that the missing De Anza A Forms constitute a violation of PG&E’s obligation “to 
have controls in place to ensure maintenance and update of its operating maps and data,” and 
recommends a $9.496 million penalty for that alleged violation.  SED OB at 79-80.  Not only did SED 
provide no notice of potential violations related to these missing records, it provided no notice of any 
violation in this proceeding related to an alleged lack of “controls,” as PG&E explains below.  See infra
pp. 40-43.
183 1/21/16 Tr. at 468:23 to 469:23, 481:7-12, 486:26 to 487:26, 495:11 to 496:24 (PG&E/Singh).
184 If the Commission determines that the alleged violations relating to the De Anza Division leak repair 
records should be considered and that the evidence included in the record is insufficient to respond to 
these allegations, PG&E respectfully asks for leave to supplement the record to present additional 
evidence that it deems necessary to rebut to SED’s untimely allegations.
185 SED OB at 76.  
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disclosing this information earlier.186 The truth is that PG&E produced this information as soon 

as it became relevant to SED’s investigation.  PG&E produced the CAP item and related 

documents pertaining to the missing De Anza Division A Forms in June 2015, in response to 

SED’s request for “every document in [PG&E’s] possession that references PG&E’s gas 

distribution record-keeping problems.”187 In September 2015, in response to a further SED data 

request asking for a “listing of currently known missing document types,” PG&E described the 

1979-1991 De Anza leak repair records and cross-referenced the previously produced CAP item 

by Bates number.188 In response to SED’s question asking how PG&E “proposes to obtain the 

necessary information,” PG&E explained that it already has the necessary information, as it “was 

entered into PG&E’s predecessor leak data repair system and remains available today.”189 All of 

this information was provided in advance of SED’s Supplemental Testimony.190

SED argues that PG&E had an obligation to disclose that these records were missing at 

several earlier points but failed to do so.  SED’s arguments rest entirely on its assumption that 

the missing records caused the Mountain View incident and that the information from those 

paper records had not already been entered into the electronic system, assumptions that, as 

186 Id. at 45-50, 83-84.  SED has not identified any reporting obligation that would have required the 
disclosure of the missing De Anza records.  PG&E is required to report certain events to the Commission, 
including a release of gas that leads to injury or property damage or events that attract public attention or 
media coverage.  Ex. 9, Attachment E011 at E011.010 (Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm’n, General Order No. 112-
E §122.2(a) (Aug. 21, 2008)); see also Ex. 1 at 12 n.30 (PWA Report).  PG&E had no obligation to report 
these missing records pursuant to ALJ-274 either.  The fact that the original paper A Forms are missing 
does not constitute a violation of the regulations because all the information PG&E needs to operate its 
system safely is available in its leak repair database.  PG&E OB at 43-48; 1/21/16 Tr. at 437:23 to 439:17 
(PG&E/Trevino); id. at 485:1-25 (PG&E/Singh); Ex. 4 at 6-6:28-32 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Thierry); 
Ex. 33 (PG&E’s Supplemental Response No. 1 to SED Data Request No. 25).
187 SED OB at 48; Ex. 1 at 86 attch. B (PWA Report); Ex. 33 (PG&E’s Supplemental Response No. 1 to 
SED Data Request No. 25).
188 Ex. 33 at 1 (PG&E’s Supplemental Response No. 1 to SED Data Request No. 25).
189 Id. SED implies that there is something suspicious about the fact that the “PG&E Witness” field on 
this data request response is blank.  SED OB at 48 (“The PG&E witness field is blank on Exhibit 33.”); 
id. at 51 (arguing that “an unsigned data request response” is “not credible” and “should not be given any 
weight”).  This field was left blank in all but three of PG&E’s over 120 data request responses to SED in 
this proceeding.  There is no requirement to identify a sponsoring witness in CPUC’s rules or guidelines.
190 Ex. 1 at 86, 90 attch. B (PWA Report).
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shown above, are incorrect.  Once that purported connection is set aside, it becomes clear that 

information relating to the De Anza Division A Forms is not relevant to any of the previous 

communications or filings to which SED points.  This is clear from a review of the purpose and 

content of each such previous statement by PG&E.

Mr. Singh’s April 4, 2014 letter to SED regarding the Mountain View incident:191

As explained in Mr. Singh’s testimony and below,192 the purpose of the letter was to explain the 

preventive actions PG&E was taking in the wake of the Carmel explosion to minimize the risk of 

another incident involving an unmapped plastic insert.193 Because PG&E had—and has—no

reason to believe the missing A Forms contributed to the Carmel incident, it had no reason to 

mention those records in this letter.  SED nevertheless suggests that PG&E may have agreed to a 

regulatory violation in that letter in order to avoid a dispute with SED that could flush out the 

disclosure of the missing De Anza records.194 That is simply not true, is inconsistent with 

PG&E’s behavior in addressing the Carmel incident, and is unsupported by the record in this 

proceeding.

PG&E’s December 24, 2014 Initial Report: SED claims that PG&E had an obligation 

to disclose the missing De Anza records in its Initial Report filed in response to the OII in this 

proceeding.195 The OII instructed PG&E to identify in its Initial Report any factual contentions 

that PG&E believed were incorrect in SED’s Incident Investigation Reports for the six incidents 

that prompted the OII.196 SED has not even attempted to identify a fact in any of the SED 

191 SED OB at 42-47; Ex. 36 (4/4/2014 Letter from S. Singh to M. Robertson).
192 See 1/21/16 Tr. at 466:8 to 467:6 (PG&E/Singh); infra pp. 61-63.
193 Ex. 36 at 1-2 (4/4/2014 Letter from S. Singh to M. Robertson).  
194 SED OB at 46.
195 Id. at 48.
196 OII at 9.  
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Incident Investigation Reports that would have called for PG&E to address the missing A Forms, 

and there is none.197

PG&E’s May 5, 2015 Statement of Facts: SED next claims that PG&E should have 

identified the missing De Anza records in the Statement of Facts PG&E filed on May 5, 2015.198

PG&E filed the Statement of Facts specifically in response to a direction from the Administrative 

Law Judge to identify the undisputed factual contentions in the SED Incident Investigation 

Reports.199 The missing De Anza records were not included in, or relevant to, the factual 

contentions in the SED Incident Investigation Reports.

SED’s allegation that PG&E intentionally suppressed information relating to the missing 

De Anza Division A Forms is based on an artificially constructed chain of causation between 

those records and the Mountain View incident that has no basis.  In addition, as explained above, 

the information contained on the forms is not actually missing.  SED’s allegation should be 

disregarded.

C. Other Newly Alleged Violations

1. In Its Opening Brief, SED Alleged Violations for Failure to Have 
Sufficient “Controls” Based on “Systemwide Recordkeeping Failures” 
Despite Having Previously Stated That PG&E’s Procedures Were Not 
at Issue.

a. PG&E Had No Notice of These Alleged Violations Prior to 
SED’s Opening Brief.

SED argues for the first time in its Opening Brief that PG&E violated 49 C.F.R. 

§§ 192.603(b), 192.605(a), 192.13(c), and Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 451 by failing to have 

“controls” in place to ensure that its maps and records are updated,200 pointing for support to 

197 SED OB at 47-48.  SED also criticizes PG&E for failing to include in its Initial Report the names of 
the individuals with knowledge of the search for the missing records.  Id. at 48.  This information would 
have been equally nonresponsive to the OII’s instructions to correct the factual contentions in the SED 
Incident Investigation Reports.
198 Id. at 48.
199 Ex. 6, Attachment W040 (PG&E’s Final Statement of Facts); see also 3/9/15 Pre-Hearing Conference 
Tr. at 64:27 to 65:8.
200 SED OB at 79-80.  This is also styled as a recommended violation for “Systemwide Failure.”  Id.
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isolated instances of records imperfections.201 To begin with, none of the regulations cited by 

SED contains requirements regarding “controls.”202 Section 192.603(b) relates to the 

maintenance and retention of records, and sections 192.605(a) and 192.13(c) speak to an 

operator’s procedures—that is, whether the operator has appropriate procedures, and follows 

them.203

Rather, these allegations appear to be directed at PG&E’s procedures for updating its 

maps and records.  However, prior to filing its Opening Brief, SED had specifically disclaimed 

any challenge to PG&E’s procedures: PWA specifically stated in its Report, its Rebuttal, and at 

the hearing that it was not challenging PG&E’s procedures.204 As the Administrative Law Judge 

confirmed after hearing PWA’s testimony, “it’s important to remember they’re [SED] not 

alleging that the [Operations & Maintenance (O&M)] manual doesn’t exist and that’s a violation.  

They’re just alleging the [section 192.605] violations are [for] failure to follow the regulation 

that you received.”205

If SED’s allegations are meant to refer to the adequacy of PG&E’s procedures for 

updating maps and records, as seems to be the case, this is a new argument that cannot be raised 

for the first time at this late stage, when PG&E has had no opportunity to respond by showing 

that its procedures comply with the regulations.206 Because PG&E relied on SED’s 

representation that its procedures were not at issue,207 it did not introduce evidence specifically to 

201 See infra pp. 43-47.
202 See 49 C.F.R. §§ 192.605(a), 192.13(c).
203 Id.; PG&E OB at 43-45.
204 See, e.g., Ex. 1 at 1 (PWA Report) (stating “[v]iolations related to recordkeeping were not the result of 
defective procedures”); id. at 37:27 to 41:5, 42-47 tbl.4 (PWA Report) (solely citing section 192.605(a)
for failure to follow internal procedures); Ex. 2 at 9 (PWA Rebuttal) (stating that “[t]he basis for PWA’s 
contention that PG&E has violated the regulations cited in the initial PWA testimony is the observation 
that PG&E maps and records contain errors, that these errors provide evidence that PG&E’s policies and 
procedures have not been followed, and that these errors have contributed to incidents”) (emphasis 
added).
205 1/19/16 Tr. at 156:11 to 157:1 (SED/PWA).
206 See supra pp. 30-33 (discussing due process implications).
207 Id.
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establish that its controls for updating maps and records comply with the applicable regulatory 

requirements.  However, PG&E provided PWA and SED with many of its standards and 

procedures for creating and updating maps and other records.208 PG&E also presented SED with 

evidence of the quality control measures that it has implemented to reduce the risk that 

imperfections will be introduced into those maps or records.209 Yet, in its Opening Brief, SED 

does not explain how any of these standards, procedures, or controls allegedly fall short of the 

regulatory requirements.  Moreover, PG&E presented evidence regarding its quality management 

program, which conducts quality assurance reviews to validate that the controls within a process 

are effective, and PWA described that program as “useful” and an industry “best practice.”210 If 

PG&E had been given notice that its “controls” would be the basis for alleged violations in this 

proceeding, it could have presented additional evidence about the ways in which it has expanded 

its quality management reviews in recent years and how its implementation of improved 

technologies, such as mobile A Forms and GD GIS, provide additional controls improvements.211

Thus, as the record stands, the only evidence going to this issue supports the fact that 

PG&E’s procedures comply with the regulatory requirements.212 Neither the PWA Report, the 

PWA Rebuttal, nor PWA’s testimony at the hearing contain any evidence relevant to PG&E’s 

supposed procedural deficiencies.  SED’s only testimony pertaining to PG&E’s procedures 

focuses on the allegation that PG&E violated sections 192.605(a) and 192.13(c) by failing to 

208 See, e.g., Ex. 6, Attachment W073 (PG&E’s Response to SED Data Request No. 42); Ex. 7, 
Attachment W081 (PG&E’s Response to SED Data Request No. 33).
209 Ex. 8, Attachment W118 (PG&E’s Response to SED Data Request No. 48).
210 Ex. 1 at 64-65 (PWA Report).
211 See, e.g., Ex. 4 at 2-22, 5-32 to 5-33 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
212 See id. at 7-2 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Huriaux) (stating “PG&E is in compliance with [section] 
192.605(b) because it maintains an O&M manual that contains all the required procedures”); Ex. 27 
(PG&E’s Response to SED Data Request No. 23) (PG&E delineating, in its data request response, each of 
its procedures for making asset records available to personnel engaged in operational and maintenance 
activities).
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follow certain procedures.213 PG&E respectfully requests that these belated and vague 

allegations regarding PG&E’s alleged lack of “controls” be disregarded, not only for having been 

unfairly asserted at this late stage, but also because there is no evidence in the record to support 

them.

b. SED’s Anecdotal Evidence of Imperfections in PG&E’s Gas 
Distribution System Does Not Support the Alleged Violations 
Based on “Systemwide Recordkeeping Issues.”

In its Opening Brief, SED identifies isolated examples of imperfections in PG&E’s 

distribution system records and argues that they reflect systemic failures that support these 

alleged violations.214 Although the PWA Report included scattered references to these issues,215

SED never asserted that it intended to extrapolate from these isolated events to allege 

systemwide violations until it filed its Opening Brief.

Moreover, SED’s position in its Opening Brief is contrary to PWA’s acknowledgment at 

the hearing that it is not possible to draw general conclusions about PG&E’s records or the safety 

of its system as a whole based on such a small number of observations.216 A review of the 

evidence SED has cited in support of its claims demonstrates that PWA was right: these isolated 

examples cannot support the conclusion that PG&E’s recordkeeping overall is “deeply 

flawed.”217 In most instances, they do not even support the narrow conclusion SED seeks to 

draw with respect to the particular example being discussed.

213 See, e.g., Ex. 1 at 1 (PWA Report) (stating that “[v]iolations related to recordkeeping were not the 
result of defective procedures”); id. at 37:27 to 41:5, 42-47 tbl.4 (solely citing 192.605(a) for failure to 
follow internal procedures); Ex. 2 at 9 (PWA Rebuttal) (stating that “[t]he basis for PWA’s contention 
that PG&E has violated the regulations cited in the initial PWA testimony is the observation that PG&E 
maps and records contain errors, that these errors provide evidence that PG&E’s policies and procedures 
have not been followed, and that these errors have contributed to incidents . . .”) (emphasis added).  SED 
referenced section 192.603(b) at a few places in its Report but, as PG&E explained in its Opening Brief, 
SED never identified any fact in the proceeding as giving rise to a violation of that regulation.  PG&E OB 
at 47-48.
214 SED OB at 7-17; Ex. 1 at 36-48 (PWA Report).  SED also claims that these isolated events support its 
alleged Category 2 violations.  SED OB at 79-80.
215 See, e.g., Ex. 1 at 34:26 to 35:14, 57:4-11, 57 tbl.8, 124-125 attch. E (PWA Report).
216 1/19/16 Tr. at 81:6 to 82:14 (SED/PWA).
217 SED OB at 7.
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“Mapping Errors and Corrections”: SED points to a PG&E report that identifies 390 

“mapping errors and corrections” across PG&E’s entire distribution system over a six-month 

period.218 On a system of PG&E’s size, this does not come close to establishing endemic 

recordkeeping problems.  PG&E’s distribution maps have approximately 60 million data fields; 

390 reported changes reflect a miniscule fraction of the mapping entries for PG&E’s system—

less than 1/1,000 of 1%.219 Moreover, fewer than half of mapping corrections involve correcting 

an actual “error” on a map220 rather than, for example, an update based on new information that 

had not been previously captured on PG&E’s maps.221

CAP Item Regarding At-Fault Dig-Ins: SED also proffers a 2014 CAP item that 

identifies an “adverse trend” in at-fault dig-ins as support for its allegation of systemwide 

failure.222 As the CAP item notes, only a small fraction of these dig-ins were even related to 

recordkeeping errors.223 Moreover, this single report must be evaluated in the context of 

PG&E’s comprehensive evidence demonstrating its excavation damage performance, which 

shows that PG&E ranks first among California utilities and number 13 among the state-by-state 

averages for operators in the fifty states,224 and that it locates and marks the hundreds 

of thousands of USA tickets submitted annually with 99.98% accuracy.225 In fact, PG&E hopes 

the Commission views this CAP item—and the Corrective Action Program more generally—as 

an encouraging demonstration of PG&E’s proactive approach to evaluating and driving down the 

218 Id. at 7-8.
219 1/21/16 Tr. at 419:15 to 420:6 (PG&E/Trevino).
220 Id. This fact is obscured by the bolding and italicizing of the words “390 mapping errors . . .” while 
“. . . and corrections” is in plain font.  SED OB at 7.
221 For example, when the name of a road in PG&E’s service territory changes, the resulting update to 
PG&E’s plat map is counted as a mapping correction.  1/21/16 Tr. at 418:14 to 419:14 (PG&E/Trevino); 
id. at 540:22 to 541:10 (PG&E/Singh).
222 Ex. 30 at PGE_GDR_000033024 (Gas CAP Notification No. 7005503); see SED OB at 9-10.
223 1/20/16 Tr. at 329:2-10 (PG&E/Higgins); 1/21/16 Tr. at 397:4-8 (PG&E/Thierry); Ex. 4 at 3-40:21-23
(PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins).
224 Ex. 4 at 8-5, 8-23 tbl.6 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Paskett); Ex. 10 at 8-22, 8-22 tbl.5 (PG&E Errata to 
Reply Testimony, Paskett).
225 1/20/16 Tr. at 329:2-10 (PG&E/Higgins); Ex. 4 at 3-40:21-23 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins).
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rate of dig-ins.226 Penalizing PG&E for the fact that CAP is working as intended by identifying 

potential improvement opportunities would create the wrong incentives and work against the 

transparency and safety culture that PG&E and the Commission wish to promote.

Plastic Pipe Without Locating Wire: SED points to a PG&E internal audit that 

identifies plastic pipe installed without locating wire as a “medium risk.”227 Because this issue is 

plainly unrelated to recordkeeping, it is outside the scope of this proceeding and should be 

disregarded.228 Moreover, as Mr. Higgins explained, PG&E employees are trained in and 

equipped to use accepted industry-wide locating methods whenever tracer wires are 

ineffective.229 And again, the numbers do not support drawing any systemwide conclusions 

about the magnitude of this issue.  The audit identifies missing or damaged locating wires as the 

cause of 17 dig-ins over the previous two years.230 If the dig-in numbers for 2010 to 2012 

(which are not in the record) were similar to those for 2013 and 2014, tracer wires issues would 

have caused less than one half of one percent of total dig-ins.231 The audit does not indicate a 

systemwide failure; it merely highlights an acknowledged risk that PG&E is addressing directly.

Unmapped Stubs: SED also alleges that unmapped stubs are a “major source of marking 

errors” throughout PG&E’s system,232 but has not pointed to any evidence supporting its 

suggestion that unmapped stubs are prevalent.  SED asserts that the number of mapped stubs on 

PG&E’s system evidences this recordkeeping issue, but mapped stubs are irrelevant because, by 

226 The CAP item explains that identification of this trend triggered a causal analysis, followed by a 
meeting to formulate corrective actions, and a notification in 6-12 months to evaluate the efficacy of those 
measures. Ex. 30 at PGE_GDR_000033027 (Gas CAP Notification No. 7005503).
227 SED OB at 11-12 (referring to PG&E’s February 2012 audit).
228 See PG&E OB at 41-42.
229 See 1/20/16 Tr. at 275:5 to 276:10 (PG&E/Higgins); Ex. 4 at 3-13:13 to 3-14:8, 3-15:7-20 (PG&E 
Reply Testimony, Higgins).
230 Ex. 32 at PGE_GDR_000007923 (Internal Auditing Memo Re: Audit of Gas Damage Prevention 
Program (Feb. 2, 2012)); see SED OB at 12.
231 Ex. 4 at 7-Ex. 2 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Huriaux).
232 SED OB at 14, 81-82.
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definition, they appear on the maps.233 PWA identified three incidents across PG&E’s 

3.3 million service lines caused by an unmapped stub over the six-year period it examined.234

The only other evidence cited by SED is an internal PG&E audit from 2005 that found one stub 

service had been deleted from a map without first excavating the area to confirm that it had been 

removed.235 These three isolated events are insufficient to show systemic risks associated with 

unmapped stubs.  Nevertheless, PG&E is working to reduce whatever risk is posed by this issue, 

consistent with recommendations made by PWA.236

“Significant” Mapping Delays: SED alleges that PG&E’s mapping suffers from 

“significant” delays.237 This conclusion seems to be based on PWA’s identification of four jobs 

where mapping updates were delayed.  With respect to two of those jobs, PWA misread the 

data.238 PWA’s remaining two observations do not support a finding that delays are widespread.  

PG&E’s distribution mapping workforce processed approximately 10,000 gas distribution capital 

production orders in 2014.239 In that year, PG&E reached its goal of updating its maps following 

233 Id. at 15 (explaining that “[t]he PWA Report also points out the scope of this issue, with PG&E’s 
recent realization that there were over 71,000 known subject stubs”).  Contrary to SED’s insinuation, 
PG&E did not miscount or underestimate mapped stubs.  See id. PG&E provided an initial count from its 
newly centralized inventory of mapped stubs in the limited number of divisions where GD GIS had been 
implemented.  Ex. 4 at 5-5:21 to 5-6:6 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).  The number in that centralized 
inventory increased as GD GIS was rolled out in additional divisions.  Id.
234 SED OB at 14-15, 81-82; Ex. 1 at 37:36-39, 42 tbl.4 (PWA Report) (describing Morgan Hill and San 
Jose II incidents); Ex. 4 at 6-3:9-13 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Thierry); Ex. 6, Attachment W053 at 
W053.017 (Response to GD 2-20-15 NOV, Appendix A) (describing Lafayette incident).
235 SED OB at 14-15.
236 Specifically, PG&E has implemented a pilot initiative for proactively identifying unmapped stubs 
through a comparison of service termination data and GD GIS.  Ex. 4 at 4-18:23 to 4-19:3 (PG&E Reply 
Testimony, Trevino).  The Company is also conducting a  benchmarking analysis of industry best 
practices to determine how other operators are potentially addressing this issue.  Ex. 4 at 6-15:26 to 6-
16:8 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Thierry).
237 SED OB at 13.
238 Id. at 13-14; Ex. 4 at 4-14:17 to 4-15:15 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Trevino) (stating that “for the two 
San Jose leak repairs identified in Table 8, PG&E conducted a further investigation and determined that 
those capital jobs were in fact mapped timely, but to nearby addresses based on final repair information”).
239 Ex. 4 at 4-4:11-18 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Trevino).
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capital jobs in an average of 30 days, an achievement that PWA describes as a best practice.240

And PWA acknowledged that the procedures implemented by PG&E to increase the speed with 

which its maps are updated go even a step beyond best practices in the industry.241

Other Mapping Issues: SED also claims that three mapping errors related to a valve 

position, the location of an electronic test station, and an abandoned main, respectively, provide 

evidence of systemwide problems with PG&E’s records.242 In the one incident SED identified 

related to a valve position, the mistake was not that PG&E failed to update the map, but that a 

field employee failed to open the valve.243 Similarly, SED points to only one incident involving 

an unmapped electronic test station.244 And while the record on the removal of abandoned mains 

is somewhat unclear, SED has, at most, identified only a single incident in which this allegedly 

led to confusion between active and inactive mains.245 These solitary occurrences do not support 

a general conclusion that PG&E’s recordkeeping suffers from systemic flaws.

Given the opportunity, PG&E could have developed a complete factual record in 

response to these allegations of systemwide failures.  But even on the current record, the 

evidence submitted by SED cannot support the alleged violations.

2. Newly Alleged Violations That Are Outside the Scope of This 
Proceeding.

The new alleged violations described below are based on regulations that plainly do not 

address recordkeeping requirements.246 As such, they belong in the same category as those 

240 1/19/16 Tr. at 31:13 to 33:12 (SED/PWA); Ex. 1 at 60-61 tbl.9 (PWA Report); Ex. 4 at 4-12:17-28
(PG&E Reply Testimony, Trevino).  In addition, at the end of 2014, PG&E’s Mapping Department began 
the process of making the changes to SAP that were necessary to track expense jobs.  Ex. 4 at 4-13:15-18
(PG&E Reply Testimony, Trevino).
241 Ex. 1 at 60-61 tbl.9 (PWA Report).
242 SED OB at 15-17.
243 Id. at 15-16; Ex. 4 at 3-25:18 to 3-26:16 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins).
244 SED OB at 16.
245 Id. at 17; Ex. 1 at 35 n.51 (PWA Report) (describing San Francisco incident); Ex. 2 at 39-40 tbl.2 
(PWA Rebuttal).
246 See PG&E OB at 42.
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described in Appendix C to PG&E’s Opening Brief, and should be excluded from the 

Commission’s consideration.

a. Sections 192.605(b)(4) and (b)(8) Are Not Related to 
Recordkeeping.

SED alleges with greater specificity that PG&E has violated 49 C.F.R. §§ 192.605(b)(4)

and (b)(8) in connection with PG&E’s alleged failure to investigate incidents and incorporate 

lessons learned.247 Sections 192.605(b)(4) and (b)(8) relate to gathering data to report incidents 

and conducting periodic reviews of work performed by operator personnel, respectively.  These 

regulations have nothing to do with recordkeeping and are therefore out of scope.248

SED also has not shown that PG&E violated section 192.605(b)(4) or (b)(8).  In its brief, 

SED alleges that PG&E violated these regulations by failing to adequately evaluate the causes 

and implications of incidents and to incorporate findings into Company policies.249 SED rests 

these broad allegations on several isolated events, even though it has previously conceded, 

through its experts, that its investigation was narrowly focused on the 19 incidents at issue and 

could not serve as a basis for drawing general conclusions about PG&E’s distribution system.250

And, the record evidence is plentiful that PG&E is committed to identifying recurring issues and 

analyzing their causes and consequences for PG&E’s system by, for example, its implementation 

of CAP.251 Indeed, PWA itself identified CAP as an innovative practice.252 Because the 

evidentiary record does not support a finding that PG&E systematically fails to investigate the 

causes of incidents in order to prevent their reoccurrence, the Commission should disregard these 

claims.

247 SED OB at 80.
248 Section 192.605(b)(4) requires an operator to gather certain data needed for reporting incidents, while 
section 192.605(b)(8) pertains to an operator’s responsibility to periodically review the work done by the 
operator’s personnel to determine the effectiveness of procedures used in normal operations and 
maintenance.  49 C.F.R. §§ 192.605(b)(4), (b)(8); see Scoping Memo at 3; PG&E OB at 41-42.
249 SED OB at 80-83.
250 Id.; 1/19/16 Tr. at 81:6 to 82:14 (SED/PWA).
251 Ex. 4 at 5-27:9-22 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
252 Ex. 1 at 63 tbl.9 (PWA Report).
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b. SED’s Untimely Alleged Violation of Section 192.805(h) Is Also 
Out of Scope.

SED alleges for the first time in its Rebuttal that PG&E violated section 192.805(h),

which requires an operator to have a qualification program that includes training for personnel, 

in connection with the Colusa gas transmission incident.253 Neither the OII nor the PWA Report 

identified this issue, again precluding PG&E from developing a factual record showing that its 

training programs are in compliance with that regulation because by the time SED filed its 

Rebuttal, it was too late for PG&E to present additional evidence.254 Furthermore, SED attempts 

to show that PG&E suffers from programmatic training problems by identifying only one 

instance in which an employee did not understand a symbol on the plat map.255 That isolated 

event cannot serve as an indictment of PG&E’s entire training program.256 Indeed, other than 

this allegation, the only reference in SED’s testimony to training constitutes PWA’s conclusion 

that “[b]ased on interview information it appears that training for the people [it] interviewed . . . 

was adequate.”257 Regardless, this incident pertains to transmission and this regulation does not 

relate to recordkeeping; the alleged violation is therefore outside the scope of this proceeding. 258

V. PROPOSED REMEDIES

SED, Carmel, and TURN each submitted a number of proposed remedial measures in this 

proceeding, SED both in the PWA Report and in its Opening Brief.  PG&E welcomes thoughtful 

input from the Commission and other stakeholders to identify the most effective methods for 

allocating resources to enhance safety and for developing objective measures to evaluate those 

efforts.  In the discussion below, PG&E provides an overview of the remedies proposals and 

253 SED OB at 86-87.  Note that the Colusa incident itself is out of scope because it relates to 
transmission, not distribution.  See PG&E OB at B-3.
254 See supra pp. 30-33 (discussing due process implications).
255 SED OB at 56-57, 86-87; see Ex. 4 at 3-34:2-20 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Higgins) (stating that 
PG&E responded to that incident by adding gas and electric map reading and interpretation of symbols to 
the curriculum of several classes of field personnel).
256 1/19/16 Tr. at 81:6 to 82:14 (SED/PWA).
257 Ex. 1 at 71:2-4 (PWA Report).
258 49 C.F.R. § 192.805(h); Scoping Memo at 3; see PG&E OB at 41-42.
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addresses some of the broader issues that they implicate.  A detailed response to each of these 

proposals is provided in Appendix C.

A. SED’s Proposed Remedies

In SED’s Supplemental Testimony, PWA made six specific recommendations for 

improving PG&E’s recordkeeping practices,259 tailored to address specific issues raised in this 

proceeding, such as plastic inserts, stubs, and MAOP.260 PG&E agreed with all of these 

recommendations, and has already begun implementing some of them.  PG&E appreciates the 

benefit of PWA’s experience and agrees that these remedial measures will strengthen PG&E’s 

recordkeeping practices and enhance distribution safety.

In its Opening Brief, SED proposed eight additional remedies.261 PG&E agrees that some 

of these measures are appropriate and, in fact, has already been undertaking corrective actions 

that are accomplishing the objectives intended to be served by several of them.  Several of the 

additional measures SED identifies in its Opening Brief are also feasible and specifically address 

issues raised in this proceeding in a manner that may improve PG&E’s recordkeeping or enhance 

the safety of its system.  These include SED’s recommendation that PG&E evaluate the need for 

a proactive program to identify unknown plastic inserts and provide a report describing its policy 

for stub identification and documentation.262 PG&E also agrees with SED’s recommendation 

that it identify the facilities in its distribution system for which PG&E established MAOP 

pursuant to its alternative method and conduct a risk analysis to evaluate whether that method

creates any safety risk.263

259 Ex. 1 at 75:25 to 76:30 (PWA Report).  These recommendations and PG&E’s responses thereto are 
detailed in Appendix C, at C-1 to C-4, infra.
260 Ex. 1 at 75:25 to 76:30 (PWA Report) (PWA Recommendations 1, 2, 3, and 5).
261 Each of these measures is addressed in detail in Appendix C, infra.
262 SED OB at 94-95.
263 Id. at 95-96.
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However, some of SED’s proposals are too broad to be implementable and would divert 

vast resources from critical operational work as well as from alternative measures that more 

effectively reduce risk.

For example, SED proposal (b) recommends that PG&E conduct a “systemic review of 

its distribution system to ensure that all of its facilities are accounted for.”264 This suggestion, 

while seemingly straightforward and simple on its face, is unworkable.  The vast majority of 

PG&E’s 42,000 miles of distribution system assets are buried underground.  To accomplish this 

proposed remedy, PG&E literally could be expected to dig up every foot of pipe and confirm that 

it is accurately reflected on PG&E’s maps and records.  Even a visual inspection of PG&E’s 

above-ground facilities to “ensure [they] are accounted for” would require an enormous devotion 

of resources, and months, if not years, of effort, with little incremental benefit to show for it.

SED’s proposal that PG&E be ordered to report to the Commission on the results of this effort 

within 90 days fails to recognize the practical context in which this proposal would have to be 

implemented .265

Similarly, SED’s proposed remedy (c) recommends that PG&E “conduct a review of its 

GD GIS system to validate the data using all available records to ensure completeness and 

accuracy” and then, again, submit a report documenting “all aspects of this review” within 

90 days.266 This recommendation would require, among many other things, a manual

comparison of tens of millions of distribution records against the data in GD GIS.  To say that 

this recommendation is unrealistic understates the situation.  Let us assume, for purposes of 

illustration, that:

Some 50 million paper records would have to be reviewed,

PG&E could divert 100 employees from their other responsibilities to devote full time 

to this project,

264 Id. at 94.
265 Id.
266 Id. (emphasis added). 
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Each worker could retrieve and review a hardcopy record, identify and locate the 

corresponding GD GIS record, carefully compare the two, and enter any necessary 

data corrections, all in ten minutes, and

The entire workforce could sustain this pace without flagging for seven hours a day, 

365 days a year.

At this rate, it would take approximately 32 years to complete this project.

As PG&E has explained, it has already undertaken a number of initiatives to verify the 

data in GD GIS through a comparison with other groups of electronically available records and 

databases.267 For example, the PAR analysis automatically identifies anomalies among PG&E’s 

records as they are incorporated into GD GIS.268 PG&E has also compared service location 

information in GD GIS to its Customer Care & Billing (CC&B) database to identify 

discrepancies and is now conducting similar comparisons using Google Earth.269 It has also 

launched an initiative to compare asset data in its leak repair database against information in GD 

GIS in an effort to identify any unmapped plastic inserts.270 As issues are identified through 

these electronic processes, they are researched and resolved by PG&E personnel.271

In addition, because millions of records have already been scanned and linked to the 

related assets on GD GIS, and because GD GIS is synced in real time with SAP, PG&E 

personnel increasingly are able to quickly and easily validate the data in GD GIS using available 

records as a routine part of their work.  PG&E is always looking for opportunities to further 

improve the quality of its records and, as more and more of those records are digitized, PG&E 

will have additional analytical tools for verifying the accuracy of the data in GD GIS.272

267 PG&E OB at 19-20; Ex. 4 at 2-19:6 to 2-22:9 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
268 Ex. 4 at 2-19:6 to 2-19:23 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
269 Id. at 2-20:21 to 2-21:3 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh); id. at 4-21:4-12 (PG&E Reply Testimony, 
Trevino)
270 Id. at 2-20:9-13 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh); id. at 4-15:16 to 4-16:17 (PG&E Reply Testimony, 
Trevino).
271 Id. at 2-19:12-23 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
272 Id. at 2-21:19-25 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
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However, a manual record-by-record validation of every piece of data in GD GIS is neither 

feasible, nor a productive use of resources.

B. Treatment of Costs Associated with Implementing SED’s Proposed 
Remedies.

As stated above and detailed in Appendix C, PG&E supports a number of proposed 

remedies that will continue to enhance its records and associated gas distribution safety.273

PG&E’s proposals can be grouped into three categories of activities, which are summarized here, 

along with their estimated associated costs: 274

Activities PG&E Intends to 
Undertake to Continue to 
Enhance System Safety 

Activities to Address 
Proposed Violations Related 

to Alternative Method for 
Setting MAOP, if Sanctioned 

Activities with No Identified 
Incremental Costs275 

PG&E’s Proposed 
Alternatives to SED’s 
Proposed Remedies (a), (b), 
(c), and (f) 

PG&E’s Proposed Alternative 
to SED’s Proposed Remedy 
(g) 

SED’s Proposed Remedies (d) 
and (e), and PG&E’s Proposed 
Alternative to SED’s Proposed
Remedy (h) 

Estimated Cost: ~ $15 MM Estimated Cost: ~ $14 MM Estimated Incremental Cost:
$0 

The first column includes new costs associated with activities that PG&E intends to 

undertake in an effort to continue to enhance it system safety.  If adopted as a remedy, PG&E 

would undertake these measures on a one-time basis at shareholder expense.  SED’s proposed 

remedies (a), (b), and (c)—in addition to being unworkable in certain respects, as described 

above—overlap with and are duplicative of one another.  PG&E proposes an implementable 

alternative that it believes more effectively addresses the goals intended by SED’s proposals.  

Specifically, PG&E would develop a list of activities to define an extent of condition for missing 

273 See infra Appendix C.    
274 PG&E cannot prepare a detailed cost forecast for several of the remedies until it begins the process of 
resolving the discrepancies resulting from the GD GIS and CC&B analysis, using the analysis results and 
other available data.   
275 PG&E considers incremental costs to be those instances in which (1) PG&E incurs costs for materials 
or outside vendors or contractors, or (2) PG&E retains additional internal resources to complete the work, 
or (3) PG&E’s internal resources cannot complete the work without allocating resources away from the 
work they otherwise would perform. 
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records, undertake those activities, and modify procedures and standards as needed to address 

any identified issues going forward.  PG&E also proposes to take the next step in its 2015 GD 

GIS and CC&B services review process and to further compare GD GIS with other sources of

information such as, for example, aerial imagery, to identify potential locations of incomplete 

assets in GD GIS.  SED’s remedy (f) proposes that PG&E perform an analysis of at-fault dig-ins 

and measures to reduce at-fault dig-ins stemming from records issues, something that PG&E 

already performs on a monthly basis.  PG&E will share the results of its analyses with SED.  

PG&E is also proposing as an additional alternative remedy that, as a one-time investment, it 

equip, at a minimum, two “hard-to-locate” crews for its northern and southern service areas.  

Once equipped, these crews would support the locate and mark teams in the normal course of 

PG&E’s business.

The second column includes costs related to activities that PG&E would undertake if 

ordered in response to proposed violations, if they are sanctioned, in connection with PG&E’s 

alternative method for setting MAOP on certain of its distribution systems.  PG&E proposes a 

slight modification to SED’s proposal (g) so that the suggested MAOP information can be 

provided accurately, and also proposes to verify MAOP for distribution facilities connected to 

high pressure transmission pipelines, also known as “farm taps.”276

The third column includes remedies suggested by SED to which PG&E agrees, and in 

some cases has already begun to take action.  PG&E has not proposed any modification to SED’s 

recommended remedies (d) and (e), which address stubs and plastic inserts.  PG&E does propose 

to update the MAOP risk analysis suggested in SED’s proposed remedy (h) once PG&E has 

completed the MAOP review identified in SED (g).

276 Farm taps include regulation equipment and provide gas directly to one or two services at pressure
levels that are at or below 60 psig.  Although evidence pertaining to the farm tap issue was not introduced 
into the record, PG&E disclosed the issue to SED in advance of the hearing.  As PG&E notes below, it 
respectfully requests leave to supplement the record if additional facts are needed to evaluate this 
proposed remedy.  See infra p. 60-61.
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PG&E agrees that the costs, not to exceed $30 million,277 to implement the remedies it 

supports in this proceeding would be borne by PG&E’s shareholders.  PG&E respectfully 

requests that the Commission include the amounts that PG&E shareholders will spend to 

implement the adopted remedies as part of any penalty that may be ordered.278

C. Carmel’s Proposed Remedies Are Outside the Scope of this Proceeding and 
Should Be Rejected.

Carmel proposes eight remedies,279 all of which are either being addressed in other 

proceedings, such as the pending Safety Culture OII, or do not relate to recordkeeping and 

therefore are out of scope and should be rejected.  PG&E responds to some of Carmel’s more 

significant proposals here, with more detailed responses provided in Appendix C.

Carmel first suggests that executive compensation at PG&E should be linked to safety 

performance through some unspecified arrangement, to be formulated by an “executive 

compensation advisor” who would be chosen by SED and Carmel.280 As PG&E noted early in 

this proceeding, this issue would be more appropriately addressed in the separate OII initiated by 

the Commission for the purpose of investigating PG&E’s organizational culture related to 

safety.281 Indeed, the OII in that proceeding indicates that it will specifically consider the 

relationship between executive compensation and meeting safety goals.282 Moreover, Carmel’s 

proposal is based on the unsubstantiated allegation that “PG&E suffers from a lack of safety 

culture fostered by upper management.”283 PG&E submits that the scope of the corrective 

277 These estimated one-time costs may include capital expenditures for which PG&E agrees to forego the 
revenue requirement to implement, but which PG&E will seek to include in rate base in the 2020 GRC, 
since the investments inure to the benefit of customers.
278 In the San Bruno Recordkeeping OII proceedings, the Commission applied the costs to implement the 
imposed remedies to the total penalty calculation.  D. 15-04-024, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 230, at *161-62.
279 Carmel OB at 20-25.
280 Id. at 21.  
281 Ex. 4 at 1-19:16 to 1-20:2 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe).
282 Order Instituting Investigation on the Comm’n’s Own Motion to Determine whether Pac. Gas & Elec. 
Co. & PG&E Corp.’s Organizational Culture & Governance Prioritize Safety, I. 15-08-019, 2015 Cal. 
PUC LEXIS 539, at *24; see Carmel OB at 20-22.
283 Carmel OB at 21.  
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actions adopted by the Company that have been described in this proceeding—and applauded by 

PWA—amply demonstrate management’s commitment to strengthening PG&E’s safety 

culture.284

Carmel also proposes that the Commission order a third-party review of PG&E’s safety 

culture—another proposal that is being addressed in other regulatory proceedings.285 This 

proposal also should be rejected because it is based on the meritless accusation that independent 

consultants Exponent and Lloyd’s Register are “too cozy” with PG&E and have a “conflict of 

interest” because PG&E compensated them for their professional services.286 Exponent is a 

widely respected consultant firm that has worked on several of the most significant engineering 

investigations of the past half century.287 Lloyd’s Register, which is unaffiliated with Lloyd’s of 

London, is an internationally recognized 250-year-old institution that is wholly owned by a 

registered UK charity, and the profits generated by its consultancy work are used to fund its 

parent’s charitable objectives.288 These are respected organizations with professional 

requirements to adhere to and reputations to uphold.  Carmel points to no evidence that they have 

provided biased analyses or otherwise compromised their independence in their audits or 

assessments of PG&E.

Carmel’s other criticism is that Exponent and Lloyd’s Register only “scratch the surface” 

because they do not address PG&E’s “implementation” of the policies it adopts.289 This 

comment demonstrates Carmel’s lack of understanding of Exponent and Lloyd’s work.  For 

example, Exponent’s investigation of the Carmel incident spanned several weeks, and included 

multiple site visits, an extensive review of documents, and over a dozen employee interviews.290

284 Ex. 1 at 65-67 (PWA Report); Ex. 4 at 1-19:1-15 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe). 
285 Carmel OB at 22.
286 Id. Of course, under Carmel’s proposal, this new, supposedly more impartial consultant would also be 
compensated by PG&E for its work.  Id.
287 Ex. 4 at 5-28:16-25 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).  
288 Lloyd’s Register, About us, http://www.lr.org/en/who-we-are/organisation.
289 Carmel OB at 22.
290 See Ex. 7, Attachment W116 at W116.086-.101 (Exponent, Inc., Carmel Gas Incident (Apr. 2014)).
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Similarly, the Lloyd’s Register assessment that certified PG&E’s compliance with the PAS 55 

and ISO 55001 standards was conducted in several stages over nine months, and entailed more 

than 1,700 miles of travel through PG&E’s service territory and interviews with more than 150 

management and field employees and contractors. 291

Moreover, PWA, an entity whose independence from PG&E cannot be questioned,

conducted an undoubtedly arm’s-length investigation of PG&E’s distribution system and 

concluded that PG&E is meeting and exceeding industry best practices across a wide range of 

activities.

Carmel also proposes that the Commission order the creation and endowment of a gas 

safety intervenor that is similar to TURN but focused on issues of public safety.292 This proposal 

is beyond the scope of this OII, which is limited to PG&E’s gas distribution recordkeeping.  

Moreover, the creation of such an institution would constitute rulemaking by the Commission as 

it would affect all regulated gas distribution companies in California293 and would require careful 

consideration of how the role of the proposed “safety intervenor” would relate to the roles 

currently played by existing rate intervenors, community and grass-roots intervenors, local 

291 Ex. 4 at 1-22:1-32 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe); id. at 2-8:1-25 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh); 
Ex. 5, Attachment W007 at W007.001 (PG&E’s Response to SED Data Request No. 15, Supp. 1).  To 
maintain its certification PG&E must undergo independent audits of its asset management processes 
approximately every six months, as well as an independent recertification audit every three years.  Ex. 4 
at 1-22:25-28 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe).  SED expert Paul Wood agreed that the Lloyd’s audit 
was “extensive,” and testified that understanding the elements of the PAS 55 and ISO 55001 standards 
would be an “appropriate action” for a utility seeking to manage safety and records effectively.  1/19/16 
Tr. at 38:4-11, 43:23 to 44:4 (SED/PWA).
292 Carmel OB at 21.
293 See Cal. Pub. Util. Code §§ 1701.1(c)(1), 1701.4 (“Quasi-legislative cases, for purposes of this article, 
are cases that establish policy, including, but not limited to, rulemakings and investigations which may 
establish rules affecting an entire industry.”) (emphasis added).
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governments, and retained experts.294 Carmel has provided no detail or evidence of how this 

institution would function.  Its request should be rejected.295

Carmel also asks the Commission to order “binding commitments” from PG&E to 

improve its emergency response procedures.296 Because emergency response is beyond the 

scope of this recordkeeping investigation, there is no evidence in the record from which the 

Commission could evaluate the quality of PG&E’s current emergency response performance or 

the appropriateness of Carmel’s proposed measures.297 Finally, Carmel also requests 

compensation (separate from the intervenor compensation allowed under the Commission’s 

rules) in the form of direct costs and “opportunity costs” for damage it claims to have sustained 

as a result of the Carmel incident.298 In the context of an OII, the California Public Utilities Code 

authorizes the Commission to order penalties, fines and restitution as well as equitable remedies, 

but not to order damages.299 Indeed, Carmel has identified no precedent for the Commission to 

order such compensation to a private party or municipality in an OII, and PG&E is aware of 

none.  Carmel’s request to submit evidence of damages via “separate, further briefing” at some 

294 Cal. Pub. Utils. Comm’n’s Safety Action Plan En Banc (Sept. 25, 2015) (statements of Connie 
Jackson, City Manager, San Bruno) (discussing the complexity and multitude of issues and interests that 
need to be addressed in creating a safety intervenor suggested by the City of San Bruno).
295 Carmel OB at 21; see D. 15-04-024, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 230, at *236-37 (denying the City of San 
Bruno’s proposed remedy to create a California Pipeline Safety Trust that would intervene in 
Commission proceedings to advocate for public safety, because the City “provided no specifics on how 
the Pipeline Trust would be organized”).
296 Carmel OB at 23.
297 See Scoping Memo at 3.
298 Carmel OB at 23-24.
299 Compare Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 2106 (stating that “[a]n action to recover for . . . loss, damage, or 
injury [caused by a public utility] may be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction”) with Cal. Pub. 
Util. Code § 2107 (granting the Commission the power to impose a penalty on any public utility that fails 
to comply with a state law or Commission order) and D. 15-04-024, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 230, at *45-
46 (finding that although the Commission is empowered to impose remedies outside of those available 
under section 2107, such additional remedies are limited to those equitable in nature); see also Order 
Instituting Rulemaking on Regulations Relating to Passenger Carriers, Ridesharing, & New Online-
Enabled Transp. Servs., D. 16-01-014, 2016 Cal. PUC LEXIS 22, at *90 (stating “[t]he Commission has 
broad authority to impose fines and penalties on persons subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction”) 
(emphasis added).



59

later time should have been raised much earlier in this proceeding, is untimely at this late date, 

when the record is closed, and should be rejected.

D. TURN’s Proposed Remedies

TURN submits five proposed remedies, three of which are largely duplicative of the SED 

proposals addressed above.300 Of the remaining remedies, one recommends that the 21 

transmission recordkeeping remedies adopted in D. 15-04-024 (Transmission Recordkeeping OII 

Remedies) should be extended wholesale to PG&E’s distribution system in this proceeding.301

One of these 21 Transmission Recordkeeping OII Remedies, in turn, incorporates 58 

recommendations made in a 2012 PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) report entitled “Gas 

Operations and Records and Information Management Assessment” (PwC Recommendations).302

TURN provides no analysis or rationale supporting the adoption of the 21 Recordkeeping 

Transmission OII Remedies or the 58 PwC Recommendations here.  Indeed, it is not clear that 

TURN even intended to request that the Commission adopt the PwC Recommendations.

A number of the 21 Transmission Recordkeeping OII Remedies have already been 

adopted by PG&E’s gas distribution operations.303 For example, remedies related to creating and 

maintaining a Records and Information Management (RIM) program have been successfully 

implemented in both PG&E’s transmission and distribution systems.304 These remedies are 

accordingly unnecessary.  The remaining remedies from the Transmission Recordkeeping OII 

are inapplicable to distribution systems or pertain to issues outside the scope of this proceeding.  

300 See TURN Proposed Remedies (2), (3), and (4).  Each of these remedies is addressed in Appendix C, 
infra.
301 D. 15-04-024, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 230, at *430-36 (listing 21 remedies); TURN OB at 1, App. A.  
TURN’s last proposed remedy, that the costs incurred by PG&E for any remedies imposed be paid by 
PG&E’s shareholders and not be recovered from ratepayers, is discussed supra at pp. 53-55.
302 See Gas Operations and Records and Information Management Assessment (Mar. 31, 2012) (PwC 
Recommendations).
303 See D. 15-04-024, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 230, at *430-36  (Remedies 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, and 
17).  
304 Id. at *433; Ex. 1 at 84 (PWA Report) (describing PG&E’s Response to SED Data Request No. 2); Ex. 
4 at 1-21:24-31 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Howe); id. at 2-7:29-34 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).  
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For example, the proposal that “salvaged” pipe be specially recorded in GIS does not apply to 

the gas distribution system, which does not recondition and reuse pipe.305

The PwC report is dated March 31, 2012, and many of its recommendations have already 

been implemented.  Others are simply unrelated to recordkeeping issues or to issues raised by the 

parties.  For example, one of the recommendations proposes that PG&E create a “Gas Employee 

of the Month” program to highlight employees who have demonstrated a positive impact on RIM 

culture.  None of the parties raised issues about RIM culture or employee morale in this 

proceeding.

Nearly all of the 80 Transmission Recordkeeping OII Remedies and PwC 

recommendations have been or are being implemented for both transmission and distribution 

operations.306 Thus, it is unnecessary and duplicative to impose the same remedies here.  The 

remaining handful of remedies that have not been applied to distribution activities either are 

inapplicable to gas distribution or do not relate to the issues raised by the parties.  Accordingly, 

the 21 Transmission Recordkeeping OII Remedies and 58 PwC recommendations should be 

rejected.307 Further details and responses to all of TURN’s specific proposals are addressed in 

Appendix C.

E. If Additional Facts Are Needed to Evaluate the Proposed Remedies, PG&E 
Respectfully Requests Leave to Supplement the Record.

Aside from the six recommendations made in the PWA Report, none of the other 

proposed remedies were presented in the parties’ testimony or at the hearing, and many are not 

connected to the issues in this proceeding.  Before the Commission orders any remedies with a 

significant and potentially lasting impact on PG&E’s operations and for which there is little to no 

evidence in the record, PG&E respectfully requests an opportunity to provide an appropriate 

305 D. 15-04-024, 2015 Cal. PUC LEXIS 230, at *436.  
306 Of the remedies that are being implemented to both distribution and transmission activities, more than 
half have already been completed.  The remaining are either ongoing commitments or projects that are in 
progress.  For further details, see infra Appendix C.  
307 See infra Appendix C, at C-21 to C-63.
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evidentiary submission—including an analysis of the effectiveness and safety benefits of those 

remedies, if any—through either supplemental written testimony or declarations with exhibits.

VI. CARMEL’S CLAIM THAT PG&E VIOLATED RULE 1.1 IS BASELESS.

In its Opening Brief, Carmel makes the serious allegation that PG&E violated Rule 1.1 of 

the California Public Utilities Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure (Rule 1.1) by 

attempting to mislead the Commission in this proceeding.308 This accusation is vacuous.  

PG&E’s witnesses testified honestly and accurately, and there is no colorable argument to be 

made that they or PG&E’s counsel misled the Commission at any point.

A. Mr. Singh Did Not Mislead the Commission.

Shortly after the Carmel incident, in a letter sent by Mr. Singh, PG&E agreed to a 

violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.605(b)(3) alleged by SED in connection with the Mountain View 

incident. 309 PG&E received SED’s notice of violation just three days after the explosion in 

Carmel.310 At the time, PG&E had halted all related work while it moved quickly to develop and 

implement measures to reduce the risk of any similar event in the future.311 A dispute with SED 

at that time regarding the meaning of the alleged violation would not have contributed to that 

effort,312 and PG&E therefore decided not to contest the issue.

Carmel claims that Mr. Singh’s testimony, in which he provided the context for his letter 

concerning the Mountain View incident, violated Rule 1.1.313 According to Carmel, Mr. Singh 

claimed that “he didn’t understand the significance of what he wrote” and that he is unqualified 

to opine on regulatory issues.314 The opposite is true.  Mr. Singh testified repeatedly that he only 

signs letters with which he agrees and that he stands by this letter today.315 He also stated more 

308 Carmel OB at 14-16.
309 PG&E OB at 49-50; Ex. 36 at 1 (Letter from S. Singh to M. Robertson (Apr. 4, 2014)).
310 Ex. 36 at 1 (Letter from S. Singh to M. Robertson (Apr. 4, 2014)).
311 Ex. 1 at 40:21-22 (PWA Report); Ex. 4 at 5-25:8-10 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Singh).
312 1/21/16 Tr. at 466:8 to 467:6 (PG&E/Singh).
313 Carmel OB at 14-15; Ex. 36 (Letter from S. Singh to M. Robertson (Apr. 4, 2014)).
314 Carmel OB at 14-15.
315 1/21/19 Tr. at 454:4-17, 455:7 to 456:25, 460:2-11, 466:3 to 467:6 (PG&E/Singh).
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than once his opinion that PG&E did not violate section 192.605.316 Mr. Singh further explained 

that PG&E sent the letter so that the Company could move forward in cooperation with SED to 

address the issues raised by the Carmel incident.317

To create the false impression that Mr. Singh feigned ignorance of section 192.605,

Carmel quotes a one-sentence excerpt from his testimony in which he accurately noted that he 

does not have a legal background.318 In the sentences immediately before and after Carmel’s 

excerpt, however, Mr. Singh provided his opinion regarding section 192.605, as he did elsewhere 

in his testimony.  Moreover, Mr. Singh’s clarification that he does not have a legal background is 

relevant, given that the proper interpretation of section 192.605(b)(3) and the recordkeeping 

regulations in general is a disputed legal issue in this proceeding.  Carmel’s claim that this 

testimony was somehow “prompt[ed]” by counsel is preposterous.319 In fact, the transcript

demonstrates that counsel for PG&E misunderstood Mr. Singh’s testimony, which is of course 

inconsistent with having tried to “prompt it.”  The full exchange is as follows:

MR. MOLDAVSKY: Okay. Why was PG&E’s recordkeeping 
conduct in the Carmel incident excusable or not a violation, in your 
view? Whereas, as indicated in your letter here, the Mountain 
View incident was a violation of the Title CFR part 192.605(b)?

MS. FIALA: Objection. Misstates the witness’s testimony and 
lacks foundation.  Mr. Singh testified he had no opinion. He did 
not testify that he had an opinion that there was no violation.

MR. MOLDAVSKY: He testified that he had an opinion.

ALJ BUSHEY: Then we need to clarify, because I understood 
your answer of no to be that no, you did not believe there was a 
violation in the Carmel incident; is that correct?

THE WITNESS: That is my opinion, yes.

ALJ BUSHEY: That is his opinion.

316 Id.
317 Id. at 466:8 to 467:6 (PG&E/Singh).
318 Carmel OB at 15.
319 Id.
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MS. FIALA: I misunderstood.

ALJ BUSHEY: So the record is crystal clear. He has an opinion 
about the Carmel incident and it is his opinion that there was no 
violation there.  Mr. Moldavsky has asked to compare and contrast 
the two.

THE WITNESS: Can I clarify, your Honor?  No specific violation 
as pertains to 605(b).  I’m not well versed, I don’t have a legal 
background to make legal conclusions.  You asked me about my 
opinion about 605(b) and that is what I’ve provided.320

Mr. Singh provided a clear statement about the letter and its relationship to the Carmel 

incident, which was unmistakably his own and not prompted by counsel.  SED repeatedly 

blocked Mr. Singh’s attempts to explain the context in which the letter was written.321 On re-

direct examination, counsel for PG&E merely allowed Mr. Singh the opportunity to provide a 

complete answer regarding what motivated PG&E’s agreement to the alleged Mountain View 

violation, which is that PG&E did not believe it was in anyone’s best interests to contest the 

violation at a time that all efforts were focused on investigating the Carmel accident and 

implementing corrective actions to reduce the risk of another such incident.322 Carmel’s claim 

that his testimony or the conduct of PG&E’s lawyers violated Rule 1.1 is completely without 

merit.

B. Mr. Huriaux Did Not Mislead the Commission.

Carmel also claims that PG&E expert witness Richard Huriaux attempted to mislead the 

Commission by expressing his opinion that California Public Utilities Code section 451 does not 

contain “standards or objectives” for determining compliance.323 Carmel’s claim is not that 

Mr. Huriaux holds a different opinion from the one he expressed to the Commission.  Nor does 

Carmel suggest that Mr. Huriaux attempted to misrepresent the state of the law on this issue.  

Indeed, he stated at the outset of his testimony on this subject that he is “not offering a legal 

320 1/21/16 Tr. at 455:20 to 456:25 (PG&E/Singh).
321 Id. at 449:1-10, 454:4 to 455:2, 459:20 to 460:1, 462:8-11 (PG&E/Singh).
322 Id. at 557:3 to 558:13 (PG&E/Singh).
323 Ex. 4 at 7-12 to 7-13 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Huriaux).
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opinion on the interpretation of  [California Public Utilities Code] section 451” but only his 

“perspective as a former national pipeline safety regulator.”324

Instead, Carmel claims that Mr. Huriaux’s testimony violates Rule 1.1 because his 

opinion is inconsistent with prior Commission decisions and therefore “wrong.”325 It is hard to 

believe that offering expert opinion should not be allowed in these proceedings.  Mr. Huriaux’s 

opinion that section 451 does not provide enough specificity for an operator to determine 

compliance cannot be “wrong,” even if the Commission has taken a different view.  And 

regardless of whether one’s honest opinion can ever be “wrong,” it certainly cannot be 

“mislead[ing]” or “false,” as is required for a violation of Rule 1.1.  As SED explained in its 

Opening Brief:

Despite not being an attorney, Mr. Huriaux is permitted to testify 
that he simply disagrees with the Commission’s interpretation of 
PU Code § 451.326

SED is correct.  Carmel’s interpretation of Rule 1.1, in contrast, would prohibit parties appearing 

before the Commission from providing opinions or argument regarding any regulation about 

which the Commission has issued a decision.  Addressing such issues is not only ethical, but is 

critical to the success of any proceeding.

Carmel nevertheless argues that PG&E should be fined for this testimony and, ironically, 

for wasting the Commission’s time by submitting it.327 Carmel’s accusations are not only 

baseless, but themselves an unfortunate distraction from the issues this proceeding was 

conducted to address.

324 Id. at 7-12 (PG&E Reply Testimony, Huriaux).  And Carmel clearly does not believe there is any risk 
of the Commission being misled on this issue, as it suggests the Commission might experience “déjà vu 
all over again” when presented with Mr. Huriaux’s opinion.  Carmel OB at 16.
325 Carmel OB at 15-16.
326 SED OB at 22.
327 Carmel OB at 16-17.
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VII. CONCLUSION

PG&E is committed to working with the Commission in pursuit of their shared goal of 

enhancing the safety performance of PG&E’s gas distribution system.  The many initiatives 

PG&E has undertaken to build state-of-the-industry infrastructure, achieve recordkeeping best 

practices, and minimize the risk of incidents on its gas distribution system demonstrate the 

durability and sincerity of PG&E’s commitment.  PG&E acknowledges that more work remains 

to be done and that, at times in the past, its conduct has not measured up to the high expectations 

that the Company sets for itself.  For this reason, even though PG&E disagrees that the violations 

alleged by SED have merit or have been proven, PG&E respectfully submits that the maximum 

penalty imposed in this proceeding should not exceed $33.636 million, which is the amount 

consistent with the top end of the range bracketed by reasonably comparable Commission 

precedents.

PG&E intends to continue doing exactly what it has been doing—focusing on safety, 

finding and fixing problems as they arise, and searching for innovative, effective, and 

technologically advanced solutions to the challenges that remain.  PG&E looks forward to 

working cooperatively with the Commission and SED in that effort to continuously improve the 

quality and safety of its operations and the service it provides to its customers.
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